## **Ten Strategic Points**

Complete the Ten Strategic Points document below for your chair and committee members to reference during review of your proposal or dissertation. The Ten Strategic Points represents the foundational elements of your study, must be aligned, and should be continuously updated as appropriate based on each iteration of your proposal or dissertation document. For additional detail on the Ten Strategic Points refer to the full document located on the DC Network> Dissertation Resources>Folder 05 Dissertation Template. *Please Note: The Ten Strategic Points should be moved to Appendix A in the final dissertation manuscript before moving into Level 7 Form and Formatting*.

#### **Ten Strategic Points**

The ten strategic points emerge from researching literature on a topic, which is based on, or aligned with a defined need or problem space within the literature as well as the learner's personal passion, future career purpose, and degree area. The Ten Strategic Points document includes the following key points that define the research focus and approach:

	Strategic Points Descriptor	Learner Strategic Points for Proposed Study	
1.	<b>Dissertation Topic</b> - Provides a broad research topic area/title.	<ul> <li>How Students Describe Peer-Modeled Growth Mindset Tutoring at a Community College</li> <li>The topic comes out of the problem space of the need to support students in first year, college-level courses as developmental coursework was phased out</li> <li>It aligns to program of study, Doctor of Education in Teaching and Learning with an Emphasis in Adult</li> </ul>	
2.	Literature Review - Lists primary points for four sections in the Literature Review: (a) Background of the problem and the need for the study based on citations from the literature; (b) Theoretical foundations (theories, models, and concepts) and if appropriate the conceptual framework to provide the foundation for study); (c) Review of literature topics with key themes for each one; (d) Summary.	<ul> <li>Learning</li> <li>Background of the problem</li> <li>Assembly Bill 705 and 1705 in California has required phasing out of pre-transfer or developmental coursework at the California community college system.</li> <li>Non-cognitive supports, like mindset training, are being integrated into colleges to help learners cope with challenging, college-level work (Capizzi et al., 2017).</li> <li>Broda et al. (2018) conducted a study to assess online growth mindset interventions with first year students</li> </ul>	

<ul> <li>and results showed that a growth mindset intervention for Latino/a students' improved GPA.</li> <li>Barclay et al. (2018) found that at-risk students held different mindsets and standards about themselves than students with higher GPAs. Historical treatment of problem being studied</li> <li>Studies recommend growth mindset as ways to support the academic success of students facing significant risk factors (Barclay et al., 2018; Broda et al., 2018).</li> <li>Theoretical foundation</li> <li>Dweck and Yeager proposed that mindset theory may influence the concept of effort beliefs, believing that effort is a positive thing that helps grow ability (2019).</li> <li>Key concepts from theory:</li> <li>Students who describe themselves with fixed mindsets are fearful of failure when they must use their skills to work on academically challenging assignments.</li> <li>Learners who identify their intelligence with a growth mindset see challenges and setbacks as opportunity to grow.</li> <li>Effort and feedback from a supportive ally are the means</li> </ul>
that can lead to mastery.
Paview of literature tenies
<ul> <li>Review of literature topics</li> <li><i>Theme 1: Non-Cognitive Factors</i></li> </ul>
Aditomo (2015) concluded that there
is a connection between mindset about
intelligence and academic ability and
its power to influence students in the
face of academic challenges. Altunel
(2019) found that learners developed
more growth mindset towards learning
with the help of growth mindset interventions. In contrast, Destin et al.

(2019) saw a connection between
learners' fixed mindset was connected
to low academic achievement. Hoyert
et al. (2019) found that university
students on academic probation who
attended a class with growth mindset
interventions earned higher grades,
indicating the value of learning about
mindset theory for students who may
be at risk for failing.
• Theme 2: Non-Cognitive Interventions
Barclay et al. (2018) found that
growth mindset applied to academic
settings can play an important role in
student approach to academic effort
and success. Research should explore
how to incorporate variables like
growth mindset into programs. Broda
et al. (2018) identified a connection
between effort and mindset. Karlen et
al. (2019) found that an incremental
theory (growth mindset) is related to
perseverance of effort and consistency
of interest.
• Theme 3: Role of Peer Support
Topping (2005) concluded that peer
learning is effective in supporting
learners' strengths and engages them
as active participants in the learning
process. Sheffler and Cheung (2020)
found that the tenants of growth
mindset delivered by a peer motivated
students to value challenging
00
academic tasks. Zander et al. (2018)
saw a connection between growth
mindsets along with peer support
networks in providing academic
support to learners. Khan and Watson
(2018) also found that peers providing
academic tutoring helped learners in a
flipped classroom setting
• Theme 4: Non-Cognitive Skills and
Writing Driscoll et al. (2017)
identified five dispositions that can be
applied to writing development:

		motivation), persistence, self-efficacy, self-regulation (the ability to monitor revise, and improve writing), and value of learning experiences. These behaviors are also connected to college readiness. First year composition students commonly work with tutors to help them work on course assigned writing as well as non-cognitive skills; this can assist in completing these assignments and the course (Miller, 2020; Schubert, 2017).
3.	<b>Problem Statement</b> - Describes the problem to address through the study based on defined needs or problem space supported by the literature	Completion rates in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer- modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course.
4.	Sample and Location – Identifies sample, needed sample size, and location (study phenomenon with small numbers).	<ul> <li>general population for this study will be community college students in California</li> <li>target population will be comprised of community college students who use the Writing Center, an average of 715 each semester</li> <li>sample will consist of 25 participants, 12 for interviews, and two focus groups of 5-7 people who have meet with a peer-modeled growth mindset tutor at a community college</li> </ul>
5.	Research Questions – Provides research questions to collect data to address the problem statement.	<ul> <li>RQ0: How do community college students in Southern California describe their experience with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?</li> <li>RQ1: How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of effort learned through peer- modeled growth mindset tutoring in</li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>supporting completion of a composition course?</li> <li>RQ2: How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of new strategies learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?</li> <li>RQ3: How do community college community college students in Southern California describe the role of encouragement to persist through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?</li> </ul>	
6.	<b>Phenomenon</b> - Describes the phenomenon to be better understood (qualitative).	The phenomenon to be studied is peer- modeled growth mindset tutoring as experienced by community college students.	
7.	Methodology and Design - Describes the selected methodology and specific research design to address the problem statement and research questions.	<ul> <li>Methodology and design sections         <ul> <li>This study will collect rich data about the who and what of learner experiences with peermodeled growth mindset tutoring.</li> <li>The study will take an individualized approach toward the students surveyed.</li> <li>This study will use interviews and focus groups to record the student experience with growth minded tutoring while taking college level courses.</li> <li>This study will use qualitative descriptive design to explore how peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring can be used to support community college learners by gathering perceptions of learners. This study will use mindset theory to study the phenomenon.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	

8.	Purpose Statement – Provides one sentence statement of purpose including the problem statement, methodology, design, target population, and location.	The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two- year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course.
9.	Data Collection – Describes primary instruments and sources of data to answer research questions.	<ul> <li>Qualitative: Interviews and focus groups</li> <li>Site approval</li> <li>Results of the expert panel review for qualitative studies</li> <li>Results of the field tests</li> <li>GCU Chair and Committee Approvals</li> <li>AQR Approval</li> <li>IRB Approval</li> <li>Consent form from individual participants</li> <li>Purposive sampling contacts population directly based on characteristics of a population and the objective of the study (Palinkas et al., 2015).</li> <li>Chain or snowball sampling to request assistance from faculty to contact population (Penrod et al., 2003)</li> <li>Data will be collected and stored on a laptop with password protection.</li> <li>Data will be backed up using a password protected flash drive. Data is protected by a code and password</li> <li>Long-term confidentiality will be maintained by removal of personal data.</li> <li>"de-identified" copy of all of the data and the data analysis will be stored in the LDP in the folder that will be placed there so that the AQR reviewers can review the data and data analysis.</li> <li>Data will be destroyed when flash drive is wiped clean.</li> </ul>

10.	<b>Data Analysis</b> – Describes the specific data analysis approaches to be used to address research questions.		Data Source #1 – Open-ended semi- structured interviews – Thematic Analysis Data Source #2 – Focus groups – Thematic Analysis
-----	--	--	---

How Students Describe Peer-Modeled Growth Mindset Tutoring at a Community College

Submitted by

Elizabeth Gillis-Smith

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Grand Canyon University

Phoenix, Arizona

February 2023

## Dedication

An optional dedication may be included here. While a dissertation is an objective, scientific document, this is the place to use the first person and to be subjective. The dedication page is numbered with a Roman numeral, but the page number does not appear in the Table of Contents. It is only included in the final dissertation and is not part of the proposal. If this page is not to be included, delete the heading, the body text, and the page break below.

#### Acknowledgments

An optional acknowledgements page can be included here. This is another place to use the first person. If applicable, acknowledge and identify grants and other means of financial support. Also acknowledge supportive colleagues who rendered assistance. The acknowledgments page is numbered with a Roman numeral, but the page number does not appear in the table of contents. This page provides a formal opportunity to thank family, friends, and faculty members who have been helpful and supportive. The acknowledgements page is only included in the final dissertation and is not part of the proposal. If this page is not to be included, delete the heading, the body text, and the page break below.

## **Table of Contents**

List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background of the Study	7
Definition of Terms	13
Anticipated Limitations	16
Summary and Organization of the Remainder of the Study	18
Chapter 2: Literature Review	23
Introduction to the Chapter and Background to the Problem	23
Identification of the Problem Space	27
Theoretical Foundations	
Growth and Fixed Mindset	30
Review of the Literature	
Non-Cognitive Factors	
Non-Cognitive Interventions with College Students	42
Peer Support	52
Non-Cognitive Skills and Writing	56
Problem Statement	69
Summary	72
Chapter 3: Methodology	78
Introduction	78
Purpose of the Study	80

Phenomenon and Research Questions
Rationale for a Qualitative Methodology84
Rationale for Research Design86
Population and Sample Selection
Study Sample and Sampling Strategy
Sources of Data
Research Data
Additional Data96
Trustworthiness
Credibility
Dependability
Transferability100
Confirmability100
Data Collection and Management102
Data Analysis Procedures105
Ethical Considerations109
Assumptions and Delimitations112
Assumptions112
Delimitations113
Summary114
Chapter 4: Data Analysis and Results117
Introduction117
Important Changes and Updates to Information in Chapters 1-3118
Preparation of Raw Data for Analysis and Descriptive Data

Preparation of Raw Data for Analysis	119
Descriptive Data	120
Data Analysis Procedures	124
Reflexivity Protocol	124
Data Analysis Steps	125
Results	127
Presenting the Results	127
Limitations	133
Summary	135
Chapter 5: Summary, Conclusions, and Recommendations	137
Introduction and Summary of Study	137
Summary of Findings and Conclusion	138
Overall Organization	138
Reflection on the Dissertation Process	139
Implications	141
Theoretical Implications	141
Practical Implications	142
Future Research Implications	142
Strengths and Weaknesses of the Study	142
Recommendations	144
Recommendations for Future Research	144
Recommendations for Future Practice	145
Holistic Reflection on the Problem Space	146
References	148
Appendix A. Ten Strategic Points	171
OUALITATIVE COUD-contraction Townlets V0.1.01.04.01	

QUALITATIVE GCU Dissertation Template V9.1 01.24.21 © College of Doctoral Studies, Grand Canyon University 2005-2021

Appendix B. Site Authorization	172
Appendix C. IRB Approval Letter	176
Appendix D. Informed Consent	177
Appendix E. Expert Panel Review	183
Appendix F. Interview Protocol	187
Appendix G. Focus Group Protocol	191
Appendix H. Changes to Interview Questions	194
Appendix I. Codebook	199
Appendix J. Transcripts	200
Appendix K. Feasibility and Benefits Checklist	201
Appendix L. Strategies to Establish Trustworthiness	205
Appendix M. Developing Qualitative Interview Questions Systematically	206
Appendix N. Sample Frames, Interview Duration, Transcript Expectations	212
Appendix O. Minimum Progression Milestones	213
Appendix P Additional Appendices	214

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study**

## Introduction

Community college students entering higher education face many challenges. Community college students are a high-risk group of students when it comes to succeeding in the academic environment (Shapiro et al., 2017). The data for completion is low: 13% of community college freshmen receive an associate degree after two years, and 31% do so within three years (PPIC, 2019). The National Student Clearinghouse (NSC) released data on completion rates of U.S. community college students, reporting that 30% of full-time community college students complete their program goal within six years, while two-thirds of part-time students were no longer enrolled at the end of six years (Juszkiewicz, 2020). The data shows that community college students need support to complete their educational goals.

Other factors also influence the success of community college students. Differences of sex, age, and race all show differences in the success rates of community college students. Women complete at higher rates than men (39% and 44%); adult learners over the age of 24 complete at a lower rate than those 20 or younger (44% and 35%); and White students complete at a higher rate than African American students (49% compared to 29%) (Juszkiewicz, 2020). They may be interested in taking classes that will help prepare them for college-level work, also known as remedial or developmental coursework, but from 2018 onward these courses are likely no longer available in the California community college system due to Assembly Bill No. 705, which limits the way community colleges can offer courses that do not fulfill graduation requirements. The 2017 passage of Assembly Bill 705 in California, an amendment to the SeymourCampbell Student Success Act of 2012, required the phasing out of pre-transfer or developmental coursework at the California community college system. Colleges in California are struggling to find other ways to support learners as academic supports like developmental courses are removed (White et al., 2021).

Another indicator of readiness for college that indicate the potential for success is high school grade point average (GPA). A large study by Bahr et al. (2019) with over 400,000 college students taking college level and developmental coursework concluded that cumulative high school GPA is the most consistently useful predictor of college performance in math and English coursework and that a minimum high school GPA of 3.0 is needed for college math while a 2.6 G.PA. is needed for college-level English. Allensworth and Clark (2020) found that high school GPAs are clear predictors of college completion. These studies indicate that 75% of students should be able to pass the college level courses to which AB 705 has provided students access (Hern, 2019). The continued problem is that although the data indicates that students should pass these classes, the pass rates are not as high as they should be, showing the continued need for research about the support that students need at community college. The findings of these researchers supported the passage of California State Assembly Bill 705, state legislation that phased out prescriptive placement of students into remedial or developmental education (Bahr et al., 2019).

After the passage of AB 705, self-reported high school GPA was used to place students into college-level coursework in state institutions. Hern (2019) reported that since the passage of AB 705, transfer-level English classes increased from 48% to 87% in course schedules at California community colleges; transfer-level math sections also increased in offering, from 36% to 68% of sections offered. A statewide analysis of passing rates of transfer-level English and math showed that success rates among those who enrolled into these courses declined since 2018 (Brohawn et al., 2021). A slight increase in the number of students passing these courses seems to show a positive outcome to the state legislation, but the data also indicates that gaps between racial/ethnic groups continue to persist as more students enroll in transfer-level courses; the recommendation is to continue to explore strategies that support universal success rates, especially to address the gaps related to racial/ethnic groups in terms of success rates (Brohawn et al., 2021).

The proposed study includes the use of mindset theory as presented by Dweck (2012). Tutors at the proposed study location are trained to tutor with a growth mindset; much like the model in Miller's (2020) study. Peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring differs from regular tutoring or from growth mindset interventions mainly because it allows peers to model growth mindset strategies in a context where students can then practice them. Peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring occurs when peer tutors are trained to encourage the students they work with to use growth mindset concepts while working on academic challenges, modeling effort, new strategies, and persistence in the tutoring process.

The research that needs to be better understood focuses on how to improve the low completion rates in composition courses at community colleges. Studies that look at the ways non-cognitive supports, like peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring, can support completion of composition courses and overall student success (Miller, 2020). Those in the community colleges are often the most at-risk groups attempting college transferable coursework in their first year (Shapiro et al., 2017). The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. Peer tutors trained in growth mindset model and support improved effort for those they tutor, provide new learning strategies, and support increased persistence through encouragement (Miller, 2020; Sheffler and Cheung, 2020). The use of peer tutors trained in growth mindset tutoring differs from traditional tutoring due to its focus on the attributes of growth mindset: feedback, persistence, sustained effort, and belief in self. This study will explore how this type of tutoring may lead to students adopting growth mindset to apply to their academic work.

The problem space for this study is created by AB 705 legislation that has removed developmental courses, so community college adult learners must enter directly into college-level courses creating higher fail and dropout rates than previously seen as students face increased challenge without support. It is not known how community college adult learners, due to legislation removing developmental courses, entering into college level courses will face the increased challenge with the support of tutors trained with growth mindset. The degree attainment rates are already low in students who begin at community college: only 29% of students who start at a community college complete an A.A. within six years (Shapiro et al., 2017). There is, however, a gap between college readiness and college academic success. White et al. (2021) identified the need for research that highlights the student perspective on tutoring at the community college. The educational offerings provided to students in California are changing due to AB 705 implementation. It requires all students to begin in college level coursework and finding ways to support students as they begin college becomes key. The link between learning skills to support their academic development within the context of a tutoring setting has not been researched, but reports from community colleges indicated the need for both. White et al. (2021) conducted qualitative interviews with 83 individuals from 14 colleges who played a key role in AB 705 implementation. Their responses indicated that strong tutoring support, including concurrent tutoring support was important to student completion of transfer-level math and English in their first year. Twelve of the 14 institutions surveyed named challenges that had to do with shifting mindsets around student capacity to succeed in transfer-level courses, naming growth mindset as a key to successful implementation (White et al., 2021).

Most students who begin their college experience at a community college are ready for college-level work, but the completion rates still show that 30% of students do not complete their first-year course work in math and English (Brohawn et al., 2021). This study will explore the perceptions of community college students and their experience with peer tutors trained to provide growth mindset tutoring. Research is needed to understand how a tutor with a growth mindset can support community college students with their first-year courses, supporting the non-cognitive and academic skills that help students complete those courses.

The concept of growth mindset tutoring is found in writing center research. Miller (2020) trained a tutor in mindset theory by reading Dweck's (2009a) book, *Mindset*, discussing the use of interventions to teach a growth mindset, and watching videos on mindset theory and neuroplasticity; meetings were also held during the semester to

further discuss how writing ability is developed. At the community college where this study will be conducted, general writing tutors are trained in a similar manner: an introduction to growth mindset is one of the units of training modules, including several articles by Dweck on neuroplasticity and growth mindset coaching, personal mindset assessment, and videos on growth mindset. Tutors engage in written reflections regarding writing ability and development. Monthly meetings focus on these topics throughout the semester as well. Growth minded tutoring provides a positive atmosphere to address academic challenges, with a focus on the belief in student ability to grow and learn; Miller (2020) identified that writing tutors trained in growth mindset tutoring model the growth mindset by helping students understand that improving writing applies not only to the assignment but also to future writing tasks. They also endorse the concept of effort and reflecting on their writing experiences (Miller, 2020).

From the studies conducted by the RP Group, centered on the use of data and evidence to find effective practices within the state's community colleges (Booth et al., 2013; Brohawn, et al., 2021), the California Community College and Student Engagement study on mindset and student success (CCCSE, 2019) and Miller's (2020) study on growth minded tutoring, there is continuing scholarship of the unique combination of growth mindset tutoring centered on the support of students' noncognitive or soft skills alongside academic support, which are an important part of mindset theory (effort, facing challenge, metacognition, and engagement). The above studies found tutoring and growth mindset to be important parts of the equation to provide support for community college students in their first-year courses.

#### **Background of the Study**

Since 2018 all California community college students may enroll in college-level math and English, with no developmental course options available for them due to the passage of California Assembly Bill No. 705 (AB 705). With legislation removing these developmental classes, there is a need to find ways to support student success within this environment. Only 13% of California community college students who begin as freshmen earn an associate degree after two years (Jackson et al., 2019). California community college students complete an Associates of Art degree within six years at 48% (Jackson et al., 2019); also included in that number are students who transfer or complete 60 units. Although the California state legislation AB 705-aligned approaches to assessment and placement have increased enrollment in the transfer-level courses, the success rates in transfer-level English and math classes have decreased by eight percentage points and five percentage points for English in the past year (Brohawn et al., 2021). The California Community College Chancellor's Office records that 59% of all first time English students completed college composition in one term, which is a two-percentage point drop from the Fall 2019 (Mejia et al., 2020). AB 705 allows students to access college level coursework, but it has not addressed how to provide students with the needed support to complete these courses. This study on student experience with tutors who provide positive academic assistance through growth mindset training will give insight to a technique that provides students with academic and motivational support.

Another California legislative action instituted the Student Centered Funding Formula, which attempted to address challenges that community colleges continue to face; lack of completion of degrees and certificates and achievement gaps. The state is awarding student achievement by connecting funds to student completion of English and math classes within a year of enrolling at a community college; also known as performance-based funding, this practice is used in many states, where different measures for performance are tied to funding of educational institutions (Ortagus et al., 2020). The legislation has provided more access to college-level courses for community college students. However, this shifts responsibility to the college as student completion it tied to a new funding formula.

Practitioners in the California community college need to explore ways to engage students with academic programs as well as non-cognitive supports that have been found to increase academic success. Farruggia et al. (2018) conducted a study with first year college students in a writing course that showed a relation between college success and academic mindsets (elf-efficacy, sense of belonging, academic motivation), perseverance, and learning strategies (time management) study of an intervention that a positive academic mindset impacted academic performance and retention. Because of research like this, other research projects are exploring how noncognitive interventions can support students' academic progress (Miller, 2020). Miller's study used mindset theory in a tutoring environment, and the study focused on the interaction of a growth mindset trained tutor with writing students. Miller found that the peer tutor acted as a supportive ally, modeled growth mindset, and encouraged students to engage in academic challenge by using new strategies with a mindset that it would lead to growth. Non-cognitive supports, like mindset training, have been integrated into colleges to help learners cope with challenging, college-level work (Capizzi et al., 2017). Broda et al. (2018) conducted a study to assess online growth mindset interventions with first year students and results

showed that a growth mindset intervention for Latino/a students' improved GPAs. Mindset encompasses the non-cognitive skills of academic self-efficacy, belonging, and academic motivation; more research is needed to understand how students learn and apply non-cognitive skills to support their academic progress (Farruggia et al., 2018).

The use of peer support to model noncognitive skills, like growth mindset, selfefficacy, sense of belonging, academic motivation, perseverance, and time management is another intervention model that also helps students to begin practicing noncognitive skills (Sheffler & Cheung, 2020). Open access registration of the community college means that students are able to begin their college career with a variety of educational preparation and backgrounds; AB 705 legislation has cut developmental coursework, requiring students to enroll directly into college level coursework. With research indicating that peer influence as well as noncognitive supports can support students during their college careers, research on tutor training with a growth mindset is an area that should be investigated. White et al. (2021) also showed a need for research for tutoring, tutor training, and understanding the noncognitive or soft skills that support community college students.

More community college students have access to first year composition courses, and 10 of the 14 colleges reported that the increased demand of finding and training tutors has become more challenging (White et al., 2021). The 14 California community colleges interviewed used a variety of tutoring formats, but the request for embedded tutors often could not be filled due to an increased demand for tutors in general tutoring centers and for embedded tutoring. Only 58% of colleges interviewed offered tutoring services through an academic success center or math and writing center, while 33% of colleges provided embedded coaches and tutors who are available both inside and outside the classroom (White et al., 2021).

Current research shows a need for more research in the areas of tutoring and growth mindset. A qualitative study focused on AB 705 implementation conducted by researchers from the Research and Planning Group for the California Community Colleges (The RP Group) recorded an English department chair expressing the need for more tutors (White et al., 2021). The interviewee stated that the California State Chancellor's Office needs to create a tutor training program that would be accessible to all campuses. This request indicates a need for more research to support community colleges and tutors. The researchers found an increased demand for tutors across the community colleges as well as the need for a shift in the mindset of those who work with college students in first time courses (White et al., 2021).

The need for soft skills, or non-cognitive behaviors, is also seen as an important strategy to meet the needs of students in the community college system. White et al. (2021) reported that 71% of faculty interviewed have struggled to teach soft skills within their course content. According to the faculty, AB 705 has increased the need for students starting at transfer level courses to develop study skills, time management, and other life skills. While these non-cognitive skills are often taught by counseling faculty, students may be better supported by contextualized integration of these skills while working with a tutor to learn how to use them while facing the challenges of transfer level coursework.

A few colleges that are part of the California community colleges are collecting data in order to know how to best support students as developmental coursework is phased out due to AB 705. White et al. (2021) found that out of 14 California community colleges only two are collecting both quantitative data and qualitative data as they analyze the impact of AB 705. All 116 colleges in the California community college system are dealing with the changes created by AB 705, so there is a need for more research in this area. White et al. (2021) emphasized the importance of student feedback from surveys and focus groups to understand what has worked well and what needs to improve how colleges support students in college level coursework. Miller (2020) pointed out a connection between tutoring and mindset change, calling for further studies to explore different elements of the process. Studying the experience of students working with a growth mindset tutor, could highlight the impact of mindset-focused tutoring in order to provide greater insight into the results of promoting a growth mindset when working with writers (Miller, 2020).

The research is needed is to identify how peer tutors who use growth mindset can help students to adopt a growth mindset while they are taking college level courses in their first academic year. Sheffler and Cheung (2020) found that the tenants of growth mindset delivered by a peer motivated students to value challenging academic tasks. This study showed a promising connection between mindset theory and peer support, impacting students' attitudes and perspectives about challenge and effort. Students who worked alongside with peers endorsing a growth mindset viewpoint showed increased task value. As community college students make the transition to college level work, this study indicates that growth mindset and peer support may be an important influence that will support student success. The researchers proposed future studies that would involve peer groups that could influence students' mindset around learning outcomes. Many studies show that students who have a growth mindset are more open to learning, willing to confront challenges, and able to persist past social and curricular hurdles while in school (CCCSE, 2019). Miller (2020) recommended the use of mindset theory in training general tutors, not just embedded tutors, because the tenets of mindset theory, like the focus on effort, trying new strategies, and a supportive ally, could influence student attitude and behavior as tutors work with students who come in for assistance, contributing to strengthening student success and college completion (Sheffler & Cheung, 2020).

#### **Definition of Terms**

The following terms were used in this study to discuss the phenomenon that was under exploration. The phenomenon to be studied is peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring as experienced by community college students.

**AB 705.** Assembly Bill 705 in California has required phasing out of pre-transfer or developmental coursework at the California community college system (Shaw et al., 2018).

Academic challenge. Academic challenge refers to the amount of preparation or reading hours which undergraduates spend on coursework (Payne et al., 2005).

**Community college**. A community college is a higher education institution is designed to provide students with the first two years of college-level education. Students attend two-year institutions in order to complete certification, a degree, or transfer (Daniels et al., 2019).

**Dispositions.** Dispositions refer to the attitudes that students hold about their qualities that can support learning, like habits of mind, personal skills, and behaviors;

dispositions play an important role in the learning process that includes time on the tasks, the learner's experience, and the context (Driscoll et al., 2017).

**Fixed Mindset**. Fixed mindset refers to people who believe that intelligence is fixed avoided challenges or quit when they encounter them and experienced less academic success (Dweck, 1999).

**Growth Mindset.** Growth mindset refers to people who believe that intelligence is malleable are considered to have a growth mindset. They will use effort and take feedback in order to improve more. They also engage in activities like goal setting, increasing effort, and managing challenges (Dweck, 1999).

**Growth Mindset Tutoring.** Growth mindset tutoring refers to a practice where tutors are introduced to mindset theory and neural plasticity so that they tutor students/tutees with a belief that the students/tutees are capable of improving. The tutor models growth mindset and influences the students/tutees to adopt a growth mindset as well, positively influencing students/tutees' attitudes and behavior (Miller, 2020).

**Noncognitive Factors.** The practices or behaviors like academic mindsets, academic perseverance, learning strategies, social skills, that support academic behaviors that can lead to academic success (Farrington and et al., 2018).

**Peer Group**. Peer groups is defined as any set of similarly aged persons who share a common interest, identity, or engagement in sustained interactions (Sheffler & Cheung, 2020)

**Peer Tutoring.** Peer tutoring refers to a situation when peers, at similar educational levels and social groups, not professional teachers, help other students learn (Topping & Ehly, 1998).

## **Anticipated Limitations**

Anticipated limitations are inherent to the method and design used, which the researcher has no control over, such as bias. A limitation is a situation that could impact the study, but may be out of the researcher's control (Simon & Goes, 2013).

- Limitations of data sources.
  - Self-reported data. Participants will respond to open-ended questions in interviews and focus groups. This data collection relies on participants to respond to the questions depending on their understanding of the questions. Bias may exist based on experience and recall of the participants.
- Limitations of the sample and sampling strategy.
  - Sample. The target sample is limited to college students geographically located in Southern California who are taking or have completed a composition course and worked with a peer-modeled growth mindset tutor.
  - The sample is limited to those who choose to participate in an interview or a focus group.
  - Purposive sampling contacts population directly based on characteristics of a population and the objective of the study (Palinkas et al., 2015).
  - Chain or snowball sampling to request assistance from faculty to contact population (Penrod et al., 2003)
  - Potential researcher bias. The researcher is a California Community College faculty member in an English department and co-coordinator of a writing center which could affect the analysis and interpretation of the data.
- Limitations of research questions.
  - Students' perceptions about mindsets may differ among participants, which may influence their responses to questions about mindset statements.
  - Some students may need help engaging in reflective thought regarding their experience with tutoring and growth mindset.

This study will be located at a Southern California community college. The proposed qualitative study provides a limited description of student experience. A qualitative descriptive design study allows participants to use their own language to describe their experiences, thereby limiting the research to the available vocabulary of the participants. The transferability and applicability of the findings could be used at other community colleges in California, the largest community college system in the U.S., with 116 colleges in the state. Tutoring is currently seen as very important to meet the needs of students created by AB 705; tutoring is used to help support students who begin transfer-level coursework in their first year of college (Aschenbach et al., 2022). The tutoring that takes place at the proposed study location uses only tutors trained in peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring. Although it comes with limitations, the study's design allows for accurate description and real experiences.

#### Summary and Organization of the Remainder of the Study

Mindset theory has been studied in the education at many student levels. The application of this theory in a peer tutoring environment is still being explored by educational scholars. There is much to understand regarding the role of peer influence and growth mindset in the community college setting. Miller (2020) demonstrated that growth mindset trained tutors could effectively help students persist and complete course work while facing academic challenges. Learner attitudes about effort and motivation are key to engaging in productive struggle in order to learn new concepts in challenging environments; the support of tutor trained in growth mindset may play an important part in assisting community college students in their academic achievement.

#### **Project Timeline:**

November 2022 Receive feedback, return for approval
November 2022 Address revisions
December 2022 Address revisions
Determoti 2022 Address revisions
February 2023 Submit to AQR2
March 2022 Draw and defense
March 2023 Proposal defense
April 2023 Submit IRB
April 2023 Begin data collection
May 2023 Data analysis and Chapter 4
May 2023 Chapter 5 and submit for review
May 2023 Address revisions and submit for AQR5
June 2023 Dissertation Defense and submit to Form and Format
July 2023 Send to Dean for signature

# Alignment Table

Alignment Item	Alignment Item Description
Problem Space Need:	Due to the implementation of AB 705, legislation that phases out developmental courses at California community colleges, completion rates are falling in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California
Problem Statement:	Completion rates in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course.
Purpose of the Study:	The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course.
Phenomenon:	The phenomenon to be studied is peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring as experienced by community college students.
Research Questions:	• <b>RQ0:</b> How do community college students in Southern California describe their experience with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

- **RQ1:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of effort learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ2:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of new strategies learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ3:** How do community college community college students in Southern California describe the role of encouragement to persist through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

Methodology/Research Qualitative methodology and descriptive design. Design:

The proposed study will address the problem that many students face as they take college-level courses their first year without needed preparation. Completion rates in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. The study is designed to gather perceptions of community college students in college-level courses who experience peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring. The problem developed as a result of Assembly Bill 705, which allowed all entering California community college students the opportunity to enter directly into college-level, transferable courses in English and math (AB 705).

There is a need to investigate the experiences of students as they take these classes with only tutorial services available to provide both academic and motivational support because developmental course work is no longer available. Three themes emerged from the literature review, including the impact of non-cognitive supports, the use of effort, and peer tutoring. Three research questions are proposed to provide direction for interviews that will be used to collect data from participants as they describe the phenomenon, peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring as experienced by community college students.

- **RQ0:** How do community college students in Southern California describe their experience with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ1:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of effort learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ2:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of new strategies learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ3:** How do community college community college students in Southern California describe the role of encouragement to persist through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

It is anticipated that the participants will consist of 12-15 students who will

volunteer for the interviews, and two focus groups of 5-7 different people, all of whom have meet with a growth mindset tutor at the community college where the study will be conducted.

The feasibility of the study is supported by the availability of participants who attend a community college and who have worked with growth mindset tutors (see Appendix K). Data collection surveys and zoom platforms are readily available. The next step will be to schedule interviews with available participants. All available protections will be used to conceal participants' identities.

Chapter 2 will present the literature review, designed to elaborate on the themes of mindset, academic struggle, and peer tutoring. As the community college system in California was required to quickly move to a system where learners were encouraged to complete the college level composition and math courses within the first year of enrollment, without the option of taking developmental courses, it is important to find practices to put in place that can help students work through the academic challenges that they will face. Peer tutors trained with growth mindset practices may be one effective practice that can provide needed support both for motivation and academic practice that may lead to increased first year completion.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

#### Introduction to the Chapter and Background to the Problem

There is a need for continued research to support student enrolling in and completing first year courses in a system that has removed traditional supports for underprepared students due to AB 705, such as course prerequisites. The proposed study on student experience with tutors who provide positive academic assistance through growth mindset training will give insight to a process that provides students with academic and motivational support. The traditional educational model that has viewed students in a deficit minded frame, with descriptive words for students like unprepared, not ready, in need of remediation, has been replaced with a student asset-based perspective, with the idea that students bring a variety of strengths that need to be developed in order to help them adding support like co-requisite courses, embedded tutors, and required appointments with counselors. This chapter provides a historical view of the initiatives and efforts that have been instituted to provide college students with the support needed to successfully complete an academic program of study. It also provides a review of the literature and important themes about supporting first time students as they begin college level coursework. The main topics that this chapter will review are non-cognitive factors, non-cognitive interventions, peer support, and noncognitive skills and writing.

The literature review relied upon research within the past five years from 2017-2022 on the subjects of academic support and interventions in education, mindset, and peer learning environments. The phenomenon that was researched focused on community college students and studies that explored how growth mindset interventions were used to influence success and completion, using short lessons, semester long courses, tutoring experiences, and peer influence. Literature was located by searching online sources, journals, and articles. These sources included the library resources of Grand Canyon University, as well as databases such as EBSCO, ProQuest, Google Scholar, and SAGE Journals Online. Search terms included *growth mindset interventions, undergraduate education, learning assistance, community college, non-cognitive supports, peer learning, peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring, productive struggle, academic achievement, effort, writing tutoring, academic performance, habits of mind, effort, engagement, adult learners, and adult students within the title or subject line.* 

#### **Background to the Problem**

Due to legislation removing developmental courses, community college adult learners must enter directly into college-level courses creating high fail and dropout rates than previously seen because students face increased challenge without support. Completion rates in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. More students in the community college find themselves in first year, college-level courses as developmental coursework is phased out. Barriers to sustaining student completion of academic programs at the community college level are present, as the data on completion of courses as well as programs indicate. There is evidence that these barriers can be overcome with innovative, student-centered approaches (Hern, 2019). Much of the recent history of student success legislation focused on this perspective with many initiatives designed to combat low community college completion rates (Shaw et al., 2018).

The California legislature has passed many bills that have addressed the issues of low student completion and success in the community college system. Historic attempts to establish best practices to support student success and completion can be traced back to 1987 when the California legislative passed Assembly Bill 3 (What is Assessment? 2018). Almost 20 years later, in 2005, the Basic Skills Initiative (BSI) was introduced as a way to provide students with the essential skills needed for college success (Illowsky, 2008). Five years later 2010 Senate Bill 1143 (Liu) to develop recommendations for improving student success: Adopt common assessment, placement, mandatory orientation, education plans, and declaration of a program of study for all incoming community college students. Also in 2010, a review of the BSI culminated in an addition of Equity-Mindedness, Cultural Competence, and Universal Design for Learning as a means to enhance success for all students (Córdova et al., 2010).

In 2012 another legislative act, Senate Bill 1456, The Student Success Act of 2012 (Lowenthal), addressed several recommendations made by the Student Success Task Force required community college campuses to participate in a common assessment system and post a student success campus scorecard as a condition for receiving student success categorical funding. Assessment is a holistic process through which each college collects information about students in an effort to facilitate their success by ensuring their appropriate placement into the curriculum (What is Assessment? 2018).

By 2015 the California Community College Chancellor's Office published California Community Colleges Student Success and Support Program Handbook,
supporting the development of a Common Assessment Initiative (CAI) or CCCAssess. Two years later, in 2017, the move to create and implement a common placement test, CCCAssess, for common assessment of math, English and English as a Second Language for the California Community Colleges (CCC), was cancelled indefinitely (CCC, 2020). Further legislative solutions included 2018-AB 705, 2021-AB 1705 recommending the discontinuing of any placement measures along with courses that were not transferable. The bill mandated the use of co-requisite classes, changes to course outlines, providing course embedded tutoring that would be offered in parallel to college level math and English courses that would support student completion of these typical first year courses (AB 705).

#### **Identification of the Problem Space**

Supporting student success and completion at the community college level has been a topic of interest at the state government level. Completion rates in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. Many California state initiatives attempted to present solutions and provide recommendations to increase student completion. The California legislative initiatives (AB 705 and AB 1705) sought to remove the barriers that were thought to be best practices to support student success. Booth et al. (2013) reported on the responses of 900 students from 13 California community colleges on their views of what best supported their educational success. From this came the six factors of student success that has been widely disseminated as important elements to consider as programs to support completion are developed: focused, nurtured, engaged, connected, valued, and directed. This report provided valuable student perspective, along with the many legislative changes and state initiatives, to review and assess the number of students completing the first-year coursework; it is improving slowly, but not in great numbers. The state initiatives to support student success have focused on skills and completion, while the student survey shows that non-cognitive skills outside of academics are also valued by students. Community colleges are open access institutions, so most any student regardless of high school completion can enroll in classes and begin their academic work. Since placement tests and remedial coursework can no longer offered, students begin in college level courses while also needing non-cognitive and academic support for the coursework.

With traditional academic supports removed, the shift from a deficit to an asset model of student learning non-cognitive supports that use the concepts of mindset theory need to be studied in college settings like peer tutoring. Wolter (2016) explained that teacher leaders need to place equity at the center of education by removing the use of deficit mindsets when viewing students from culturally, linguistically, physically, and academically diverse backgrounds. A deficiency model of education will only continue to create a learning environment where students from different backgrounds find themselves being judged by their perceived lack of preparation. Completion rates in composition courses are already low at community colleges, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses due to AB 705, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. A study on peer tutors and their influence on students' ability to persist in the face of academic challenge would highlight techniques and strategies that would support firsttime students experiencing academic challenge. This would add to the studies that look at how academic outlook, effort, non-cognitive, and growth mindset interventions for college students support provides for academic success.

# **Theoretical Foundations**

# Growth and Fixed Mindset

Integrating mindset theory into academic settings and programs has been proposed as a way to support student learning after failure or when facing academic challenge (Yeager et al., 2019, 2016). Dweck and Yeager (2019) recommended creating an environment that fosters a growth mindset to affect motivation and learning and that organizations that embody this can be a potentially powerful force in supporting students. This environment could help provide the motivation for first time college students who are taking challenging courses in their first year.

The framework of mindset theory works to understand what motivates people to expend more effort as greater challenges are faced. It explores learning and achievement in students facing difficult situations in an academic setting. The mindset theory or model, Dweck and Leggett (1988) suggested, helped to explain why helpless individuals appear to focus on their ability and its adequacy (or inadequacy), and mastery-oriented ones appear to focus on mastery through strategy and effort. This model was used (and is continued to be used) to understand motivational processes in children and adults. People with fixed mindsets often avoid challenges and are less resilient when challenges appear. Studies seem to indicate that when students have a growth mindset to support their work of tackling academic challenges, they may have a better chance of succeeding in their academic endeavors.

Dweck and Leggett (1988) proposed a model to illustrate how cognitive, affective, and behavioral features of the adaptive and maladaptive patterns can be seen to follow directly from different goals, based on their studies and research. For some learners, challenges are either viewed as threatening to their self-identity or as an opportunity to learn something new depending on the mindset of the learners. The helpless pattern is characterized by an avoidance of challenge and a lack of achievement in the face of obstacles, while the mastery-oriented pattern involves the seeking of challenging tasks and the sustainment of effort despite failure (Dweck & Leggett, 1988). From this model, two goals were most often observed, that of performance goals and that of learning goals.

When this model was applied to the domain of intellectual achievement and identified two classes of goals: performance goals (to earn favorable judgments of competence) and learning goals (to increase competence) (Dweck & Leggett, 1988). Later studies also found that focus on performance goals created a vulnerability to the helpless pattern, but the pursuit of learning in the same situation promoted the mastery-oriented pattern (Dweck, 2009). When learners saw their intelligence as a fixed entity, they often adopted performance goals, yet learners who viewed intelligence as a flexible quality more often adopted learning goals. Learners who focused on performance were more vulnerable to maladaptive behavior patterns. Learners who focused on learning goals were able to adopt challenge seeking, persistence, and sustained performance in the face of difficulty. The model identified an incremental theory of intelligence where

intelligence is an increasable, controllable quality, while those with an entity theory of intelligence believed that intelligence is a fixed trait (Dweck & Leggett, 1988).

Mindset theory is applied to people to understand different motivations to engage and work through challenging situations. Dweck established the theory that identified how fixed and growth mindset concepts could help explain why some students are able to face learning challenges with a more positive outlook (Dweck, 2012). Many studies used a formal intervention either as course or an online unit to help students change their thinking about their capacity to face and overcome academic challenges. Multiple studies on mindset interventions show evidence for the connection between growth mindset and a positive perspective about intelligence and how it supports learners. In one study, university students took an intervention infused with growth mindset after they had failed a class to help them cope with academic challenges (Capizzi et al., 2017). When learners are exposed to growth mindset concepts about brain neuroplasticity, they put in more effort, so future investigation should explore how to incorporate growth mindset into programs (Sarrasin et al., 2018, Barclay et al., 2018).

The defined observable actions of mindset can be seen in responses to questions that follow; how a learner rates their ability to change their intelligence indicates mindset (Dweck, 1999). Agreement to the following questions would indicate a fixed mindset; disagreement would indicate a growth mindset.

1. Do you think you have a certain amount of intelligence, and you can't really do much to change it?

2. Do you think that your intelligence is something about you that you can't change very much?

3. Do you think you can learn new things, but you can't really change your basic intelligence?

Those with a growth mindset were also found to have a more positive attitude toward learning; they did not focus on the negative implications of challenges they faced. Growth mindset characteristics were identified as supporting a positive attitude toward learning, with a value on feedback and constructive criticism in order to build on their skills (Kannangara et al., 2018). The theory of growth mindset has been found to provide students with added motivation; studies have looked at a variety of interventions, but few have looked at the intersection of peer tutoring influence supported by growth mindset.

Dweck's mindset studies began with studies focused on children; the use of mindset in secondary schools as well as higher education has brought the exploration of performance and learning goals to different levels of education. Dweck (1999) and the early work on mindset theory started a significant movement in helping students and educators develop new ideas about intelligence and capacity for learning, identifying the implicit theories about abilities that influence unconscious goals when tackling challenging learning tasks that adult learners face when the return to the school environment. Dweck and Yeager (2019), seminal mindset theory educational researchers, recommended creating an environment that fosters a growth mindset to affect motivation and learning and that organizations that embody this can be a potentially powerful force in supporting students.

Research is needed to better understand how mindset theory can support student learning in the context of peer learning. Dweck and Yeager (2019) explained that future research is important to understanding the mindset environment and how social contexts influence student environments. One study indicated that when students have a growth mindset to support the work of facing academic challenges, they may have a better chance of succeeding in their academic endeavors (Miller, 2020). Students who describe themselves with fixed mindsets are fearful of failure when they must use their skills to work on academically challenging assignments. Learners who identify their intelligence with a growth mindset see challenges and setbacks as opportunity to grow. Effort and feedback are the means that can lead to mastery for students with a growth mindset. Dweck and Yeager proposed studying organizations that use mindset to shape the beliefs, values, and behaviors of the members of those communities (Dweck & Yeager, 2019). Dweck and Yeager have proposed that mindset theory may influence the concept of effort beliefs, believing that effort is a positive thing that helps grow ability. This theory may support students in a learning environment where because of the removal of developmental courses in math and English, find themselves taking transfer level courses instead of pre-transfer coursework.

Dweck and Yeager (2019) proposed that further research should continue where educational environments create spaces where teaching and learning foster a growth mindset. Barbouta et al. (2020) findings confirmed Dweck's mindset theory that the beliefs that students hold about themselves (incremental vs entity) predicted their academic performance and thus satisfaction. Tutoring centers that used the concepts of mindset theory to train tutors work with learners as they encounter academic challenge to model learning with a positive outlook while engaging in productive struggle and incremental successes (Miller, 2020). The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course in order to understand how students experience improved effort, new learning strategies, and increased persistence when encouraged by a supporter like a peer tutor. Dweck and Yeager (2019) identified the importance of research that studies environments where collaborative learning strategies welcome challenges and where mistakes are viewed with an eye for their potential rather than failure, pointing to a gap in the research that could be filled by a study of peer tutors and their influence on students' ability to persist in the face of academic challenge.

Dweck established the theory that applies mindset to academic contexts. For the purpose of this study, the elements of mindset theory regarding personal beliefs about development of writing skill and the motivation to apply effort when facing a challenge. The added support of a tutor who models the concepts of growth mindset and are able to help students face learning challenges with a more positive outlook. The theory has been applied by other researchers to school settings from elementary school to college, and provides educational practitioners with a concept to help gauge and review motivation, student success, and completion. Students at community colleges need non-cognitive skills that support academic behavior. With many community college students enrolling in courses regardless of their level of preparation, and with placement tests and remedial coursework discarded, students begin in college level courses needing non-cognitive and academic support for the coursework. Tutoring can provide both of these elements, and

the state of California (AB1187) is continuing to legislate initiatives that support exploring effective tutoring practices for transfer-level courses.

# **Review of the Literature**

This review of literature will cover the following four topics of importance to this proposed study around academic support and completion for students, which are as follows: non-cognitive factors, non-cognitive interventions, peer support, and academic attitudes about writing. These elements are important to understanding the research that proposes the ideal conditions that contribute to student success and completion. Research on themes of student preparation and attitude as well as the institutional environment offers ideas about what has been found to support students who persist and achieve their academic goals.

# Non-Cognitive Factors

By examining the role of non-cognitive factors in the academic environment, studies showed the important connection between beliefs in ability and extending effort during academic challenges. The non-cognitive influences on academic effort are important to explore while community college students face increased challenge in academic settings. Non-cognitive factors include metacognition, positive academic attitudes, habits of mind, engagement. Non-cognitive factors are different from academic skills, like reading, writing, or analyzing themes, because they are what fuels the academic skills: they are they attitudes or dispositions that support learners' motivation.

# **Academic Effort**

The concept of effort in academics supports learning when students face challenging work. The findings showed a connection between attitudes about innate ability and effort in the academic world. Aditomo (2015) found that attitudes about academic ability predicted both learning goals and effort although it did not predict course performance.

Students who experience progress or success when they exert effort are more likely to persist in embracing challenges. There seems to be a connection for students between their attitude about their innate ability to survive the academic world and their willingness to exert effort. A positive mindset about academic ability predicted both learning goals and effort and non-effort (Aditomo, 2015). Learning goals and effort influenced the way students work toward these goals despite setbacks, allowing them to embrace challenges instead of giving up. A thriving student recognizes the responsibility they hold over their own choices and actions and focuses on their strengths by applying them in different ways (Kannangara et al., 2018). Petjärva et al. (2019) found that the lack of non-cognitive skills influenced the dropout rates in first year college students. The researchers concluded that beliefs about non-cognitive traits improved the academic progress in higher education. The non-cognitive skills of metacognition, a positive academic attitude, habits of mind, and engagement, and interventions can all provide support for student success and completion.

#### Metacognition

Non-cognitive skills like metacognition supports students' ability to understand how they learn as well as how they respond during challenging learning moments. The Council of Writing Program Administrators (2011) found that metacognition is reflecting on one's own thinking as well as educational processes. The National Research Council described metacognition as one of the top three strategies that produce usable in-depth learning (Pellegrino & Chudowsky, 2003). Metacognition is the students' knowledge about their own learning can help them improve their learning; expert learners monitor their problem solving, are able to sense when they have limitations in their knowledge, and avoid oversimplifying problems they are working on. These traits are often connected with a student's metacognitive ability that can influence learning outcomes (Pellegrino & Chudowsky, 2003).

Metacognition is supported when it is explored in the context of learning in an academic subject, like math or writing. Acosta-Gonzaga and Ramirez-Arellano (2021) found that positive emotions were significantly related to metacognitive strategies only in the blended context. Hammond (2020) also identified metacognition as an important factor in student learning because the skill supports focus on cognitive planning and information-processing moves. An academic task requires reflecting on the task and deciding on what needs to happen to support the numeric or linguistic skills. Metacognition is a key student success skill as it supports students when they are faced with challenging academic tasks, and they are reflecting on cognitive protocols, tools, or strategies will be needed to complete them.

# Academic Attitude

A positive academic attitude is a second non-cognitive category that has been shown to help students in post-secondary schooling because it supports self-efficacy and belief in ability to meet the challenges higher education can bring Academic mindset supports student ability to continue on in the face of new material and challenging assignments. Academic attitude has an important role in the learning process. Students' positive academic outlook play an important role in educational achievement. Rattan et al. (2015) believe mindsets should have a larger role in educational institutions. Two key academic mindsets, growth mindset and belonging mindset were influential in this study, showing that students with growth mindsets believed that they could take steps and use strategies to support their learning in spite of difficult events.

If students think they have the ability to learn, they will come at problems or challenges during learning with different techniques than if they do not have the ability to learn. Ongoing research is important to identifying other beneficial academic attitudes that strengthen the educational environment for all students. Future research should support collaboration between researchers and policymakers who want to support student learning and achievement at all levels. Studies identify that a positive academic outlook can impact achievement, and the lack of positive outlook can negatively affect achievement. Destin et al. (2019) linked a learner's outlook that did not support effort to low academic achievement. While Kannangara et al. (2018) found that learners with a positive attitude towards effort valued feedback and constructive criticism and had more positive attitudes toward learning. The persistence that a positive academic outlook supported sustained interest and attention for completion of academic goals (Council of Writing Program Administrators, 2011).

### **Habits of Mind**

The third major category of non-cognitive skills is a collection of student traits called habits of mind. These characteristics were categorized by Costa and Kallick (2015). These researchers have identified 16 habits of mind that can support learners as they consider their motivation and assess their learning, including asking questions to stimulate curiosity, analyzing, and problem solving. These habits support behaviors and include activities like persisting, managing impulsivity, thinking flexibly, thinking about thinking (metacognition), and remaining open to continuous learning (Costa & Kallick, 2015).

The role of habits of mind in the student learning are also identified by several professional organizations involved in the teaching of writing in higher education. *The Framework for Success in Postsecondary Writing* (2011), published by the Council of Writing Program Administrators, along with the National Council of Teachers of English, and the National Writing Project identified eight key habits of mind as ways to support students' *success in writing*. These organizations and the research of Costa and Kallick (2015) link the way learners use the habits of mind to support their positive academic attitude which supports the learning process. The Framework includes the eight habits of mind as curiosity, openness, engagement, creativity, persistence, and responsibility, flexibility, and metacognition (Council of Writing Program Administrators, 2011).

## Engagement

A fourth important non-cognitive category is engagement. Students' engagement with activities can support college completion. Engagement is having investment and involvement in learning (Council of Writing Program Administrators, 2011). The role of engagement in the discussion of student success and retention became important when higher education began to take into consideration the role of the institution (Tinto, 2006). Tinto's research on student retention focused on the role the institution played in the student experience and the historical trend of the research has been to study student engagement (Tight, 2020). Student engagement has become an important element in the study of student retention and success. Hammond (2015) discussed the importance of the learning partnership in working with students who need to develop a positive mindset toward academics. Educators develop this mindset in students when they reinforce the concept that that all students have the capacity to learn; this in turn works to counteract the messages that they are not smart enough or capable enough to learn. Hammond (2015) offers other practical ways to empower and engage learners who feel like school is not where they belong. This is another way to counteract the power struggle in the classroom; acknowledging that learners and educators all have something to bring to the learning process, regardless of past grades and performance.

Non-cognitive skills support and impact student academic success and completion. Sustaining academic effort, metacognition, academic attitude, habits of mind, and level of engagement are all non-cognitive skills that contribute to student success in different ways. Although basic academic skill is necessary to success in the educational environment, the non-cognitive skills have an effect on student motivation levels, which also contribute to student success and completion. Tight (2020) recommends involving the student directly in the research to discover what helps them stay engaged with both their studies and what will help them complete college courses successfully.

# Non-Cognitive Interventions with College Students

There have been many examples of non-cognitive skill interventions with students with the intent to assist them in integrating practices that might support their academic work. Researchers have worked with students in a variety of academic settings: elementary school, middle school, high school, and higher education. The participating students in these intervention studies are from a variety of backgrounds and have differing experiences with academic success. Costa and Faria (2018) found in their review of the literature specified that a more malleable theory of intelligence or a more positive academic self-perspective tends to be associated with higher levels of academic achievement. The interventions offered a variety of conclusions; since some studies show non-cognitive skills are connected to academic success, efforts to understand how to teach student to use these skills to increase student success and completion continue.

# **Interventions Impact Beliefs about Intelligence**

The interventions that explore students' self-concepts and evaluations about their own abilities were discussed in a meta-analysis by Costa and Faria (2018). The research focused on those studies that tested for implicit theories of intelligence and academic achievement. The studies spanned the levels of students in middle school, high school, and college with implicit (incremental or entity) theories of intelligence using any of the following quantitative measures of achievement: language, literacy, reading, math, biology, or GPA. The researchers also wanted to explore the impact of implicit theories of intelligence across cultures and on different academic subjects, bearing in mind demographic, academic, and cultural differences. The meta-analysis looked at motivational patterns in an attempt to identify if implicit beliefs about intelligence has significant effects on academic and emotional outcomes. Costa and Faria (2018) concluded that although it is modest, there is a positive association between students' positive academic self-perspective and their academic performance, supporting the research findings in the field. Their findings did confirm that educational level and cultural background can influence the implicit intelligence scores with academic achievement. Further research should continue to explore the connection between selfconcepts within an academic environment, academic achievement and how it influences motivation.

Another meta-analysis looked at interventions that used the concept of neuroplasticity to help students change their perspectives about their ability; neuroplasticity is the brain's ability to change as a response to learning experiences (Owens & Tanner 2017). Sarrasin et al. (2018) compiled a meta-analysis of 212 studies that had researched teaching neuroplasticity to students. The ten studies used in this metaanalysis provided conflicting evidence; the studies involved academic motivation in a several different categories: general, reading or math achievement; and brain activity. The studies compared academic achievement in a variety of subjects with different exposure to the intervention. The ages of subjects in the studies ranged from elementary school to undergraduates, and some of populations were identified at risk. Sarrasin et al. (2018) identified that teaching neuroplasticity had a positive effect on motivation, achievement, and brain activity, and they concluded that differing results in the research findings may have depended upon the differing ages of the participants as well discipline area. The final review acknowledged the interventions seemed more beneficial for at-risk students in middle school, especially in the area of math, while also providing an effect on motivation and academics.

Mindset interventions have also been used as a means to boost student capacity for facing academic challenges and increasing student success. Sisk et al. (2018) explored the effectiveness of mind-set interventions, designed to increase students' growth mindsets with the expectation that this will strengthen their academic success. The metaanalysis focused on interventions given in educational environments around the world. Similar to the use of teaching neuroplasticity with the design to support increased capacity for student growth, the concepts of intelligence as fixed or as able to grow are introduced to students to increase their view of their own intelligence. The meta-analysis completed by Sisk et al. (2018) indicated that interventions are most significant during the important developmental stage of adolescence, and for individuals with lower socioeconomic status. Studies for the meta-analysis were chosen based on their use of mind-set measurement collected prior to an intervention, a measure of academic achievement, and measuring the relationship between mind-set and academic achievement in English as well as studies that used an intervention, a control group, and a comparison of the measure of academic achievement in English. Although the overall effects were weak for both meta-analyses, the results did support claims that high-risk and economically disadvantaged students may benefit from interventions. Further studies are needed to see if mind-set interventions combined with other interventions, like tutoring or support classes, increase effectiveness.

There have been several large studies on elementary and high school students using mindset interventions to impact academic achievement. Yeager et al. (2016) focused on learners during a transitional time in their educational lives, the change from elementary to junior high school. The quantitative study attempted to add to the body of knowledge about what makes some students resilient and able to not only complete harder material but also thrive in a new environment offering new challenges and rigor, both academically and socially. The study involved 373 students of a variety of ethnicities, with moderately high achievement scores in math; half were eligible for free lunch. A questionnaire was given to the students at the beginning of their time in junior high school measuring their responses to questions about their ability to change their intelligence, their learning goals, their beliefs about effort, and their response to failure. The results of this questionnaire showed that their theory of intelligence became an important indicator of their mathematics achievement. Future studies could take similar interventions and redesign them to improve the outcomes for students undergoing life transition.

Yeager et al. (2019) worked with 65 regular public schools in the United States that included 12,490 ninth-grade adolescents to offer a growth mindset intervention. This intervention achieved a meaningful proportion of the largest effects seen with lowerachieving students. The online growth mindset intervention, teaching that intellectual abilities can be developed, saw improved grades among lower-achieving students and increased overall enrolment to advanced mathematics courses. The study saw improvement in student academic success across the transition to secondary school. This social-psychological intervention was conducted with a qualitative methodology. The data collection used a sample of schools representative of the entire population of ninthgrade students attending US public schools. The analysis found that lower-achieving adolescents earned higher GPAs in core classes at the end of the ninth grade when assigned to the growth mindset intervention. The finding that the growth mindset intervention could redirect academic outcomes were sustained when peer support aided in the adoption of intellectual challenges. Future research should study new interventions to address other challenges students face that combine the importance of belief change and school environment. Yeager et al. (2019) identified the need for interdisciplinary research to understand the numerous influences on adolescents' developmental trajectories.

The use of growth mindset has been integrated to support students in college math courses; Boaler et al. (2022) integrated a mathematical mindset approach intervention to support first year calculus students; the study found that the intervention not only improved student assessments, but it also changed students' ideas about mathematics, their potential, and the value of collaboration. This mixed-method study used Dweck's mindset theory to create a mathematical mindset intervention that helped students value struggle in the learning process, collaboration with peers, while also reevaluating their own academic ability. This intervention combined the academic support with attention to non-cognitive supports. The researchers contributed the success of the students in the study to the mindset messages that normalized struggle and emphasized the potential of all students the collaborative practice of the course material. Boaler et al. (2022) proposed that future research should implement this approach in more diverse contexts with a wide range of students.

Limeri et al. (2020) studied students enrolled in a challenging Organic Chemistry class and were given extra credit to complete the four surveys throughout the semester. Initial surveys were used to find the 20 students to interview, primarily showing a mix of growth and fixed mindset responses. The surveys used Dweck's eight-item mindset survey focused on chemistry and general intelligence. The researchers chose an exploratory and descriptive approach because there has been minimal empirical work done on mindset change in mid-level undergraduate students. From qualitative analysis of students' written survey responses and interview transcripts, the researchers determined that students attribute their beliefs about intelligence to five factors: academic experiences, observing peers, deducing logically, taking societal cues, and formal learning. These five factors could potentially inform the design of mindset interventions. The first factor was students' past academic success. Mindset interventions may influence students by asking them to reflect on past times when they have learned or overcome a struggle, reminding them that they are capable of doing so. The researchers suggested that future interventions should tap into the positive feedback loop between mindset beliefs and academic performance. If academic experiences trigger a positive feedback loop between academic experiences and mindset beliefs, then intervening at an early stage may be critical to achieving positive student outcomes. Helping students overcome early struggles may help them adopt a stronger growth mindset, making it more likely they will continue to overcome future struggles and further affirm their growth mindset.

#### **Intervention Impact on Academic Probation**

Students who have experienced academic challenge and failure are a group that need help to succeed and complete their educational goals. Several studies involving at risk students who have previously experienced problems at school have found success in introducing non-cognitive concepts to boost academic performance. Sarrasin et al. (2018) identified in a meta-analysis of 10 studies that neuroplasticity interventions in middle school, at-risk students provided a positive effect on motivation and academics. Hoyert et al. (2019) found in a quantitative study that university students on academic probation who attended a class on mindset concept interventions earned higher grades, indicating the value of learning about non-cognitive practices for students who may be at risk for failing. Altunel (2019) found in a quantitative study that university level language learners who were introduced to the concept of mindset also developed an improved attitude towards the complex work of language learning with the help of improved motivation through interventions. These studies seem to indicate that interventions can support students' improved non-cognitive practices, like attitudes toward school success and effort

Petjärva et al. (2019) studied the high dropout rate of undergraduate technology students and first year engineering students in Estonia. The study focused on the role of implicit beliefs of ability as an indicator and the relevance of ability beliefs in reflecting the academic progress of Estonian students at higher levels of education. Their hypotheses were as follows: 1) The fixed mindset and low effort of the first-year students predict lower progress in science subjects while higher academic self-efficacy and interest indicate better progress in science subjects; 2) It is possible to bring about positive changes in engineering students' implicit ability beliefs and effort regulation with an intervention that addresses ability beliefs. To test this hypothesis, a questionnaire was used to assess learner's beliefs about their implicit ability, learning motivation and study behavior. To evaluate the validity of subscales, or in order to assess whether the devised instrument is suitable for measuring the beliefs and learning motivation of the students in the field of technical higher education, the questionnaire was piloted before the intervention study. The general sample included 270 students, who were given a growth mindset intervention. One group was given the intervention, and another group was given no intervention. Students both groups in the sample were interviewed twice using identical questionnaires. The study found that the students' academic self-efficacy, fixed ability beliefs, and low effort regulation were the strongest indicators of grades; interest did not influence students' academic achievement (Petjärva et al., 2019). The intervention effected the students' ability beliefs and effort regulation. This study

concluded that supporting a growth mindset towards intellectual ability and that addressing beliefs associated with learning is important at all levels of education (Petjärva et al., 2019). The researchers also concluded that in order to bring about a lasting change in the level of the learning process, support for development-oriented and learning-enhancing beliefs must be also be shared with those who support the teaching and learning in higher education.

### **Intervention Impact on Diverse Groups**

These interventions have been successful across diverse group as well. One important study was completed by Destin et al. (2019). These researchers investigated the role of a non-cognitive intervention on students from different socio-economic groups. The study used the National Study of Learning Mindsets is a survey given to ninth grade students. It measured academic mindset, socio-economic status (SES) and grads of 16,281 students in 76 U.S. high schools. The study found that high school students with a positive outlook had higher academic achievement. The researchers identified that the history of educational and social inequality also plays an important role in socioeconomic inequality in education. Kearney et al. (2020) evaluated the influence of non-cognitive factors among a diverse student body using the School Climate and Academic Mindset Inventory. The SCAMI includes academic mindset and social emotional learning factors in their assessment of students. The scale was found to be helpful in understanding the specific mechanisms by which school climate and other non-cognitive elements lead to improved academic achievement,

Another study looked at the influence of non-cognitive interventions on students. Beltran (2018) used a mindset intervention with Latinx students in higher education. This study used focus groups with ten students in a STEM summer bridge program at a small private Hispanic-serving university in California. Beltran (2018) found that mindset can influence the academic performance of vulnerable populations, but that additional learning mindsets, belonging, self-efficacy, and relevance, affect academic achievement are also important to success. Beltran (2018) also identified in the study that mindsets are malleable and can be developed with short-term intervention, and career ambitions were salient to student goals. Integrating growth mindset, belonging, relevance, and selfefficacy into the curricula can strengthen the effectiveness of programmatic efforts. Further studies should continue to investigate what can support students' non-cognitive dispositions.

Interventions also have also established relationships between self-perceived academic performance satisfaction and growth Mindset existed. Barbouta et al. (2020) findings confirmed Dweck's mindset theory that the beliefs that students hold about themselves (incremental vs entity) predicted their academic performance and thus satisfaction. The results suggested a correlation between academic performance satisfaction and growth mindset score, growth beliefs about intelligence and fixed beliefs about talent. The study also confirmed Duckworth's findings that grit seems to grow with age. Future studies should examine a student population in two or three different time frames, while obtaining grit scores, self-perceived academic achievement, and GPAs in order to provide more valid and reliable grit indicators (Barbouta et al., 2020). If studies are showing a connection between mindset, grit, and academic achievement, then it supports a study to see if students at a community college can grow their mindset through the exposure to peer tutors trained in mindset theory. Interventions that focus on the training and integration of non-cognitive supports that connect to students' beliefs about their capacity to learn and develop academic skills also show some benefit to students who are struggling with academics. The successful use of short-term interventions on students from different backgrounds show that students can benefit from the introduction of these concepts. The interventions also show benefit to a variety of socio-economic levels, diverse race and ethnicities, and varying academic achievement levels.

### **Peer Support**

These studies may indicate that positive emotions such as enthusiasm or enjoyment along with peer encouragement may support students to use more sophisticated metacognitive and cognitive strategies. Leung (2019) identified in a metaanalysis the use of both structured and unstructured tutoring programs. Peer learning uses the constructivist educational theories to support the idea that peer to peer learning is an active and constructive process that is supported when learners use previous knowledge applied toward the learning situation to understand the learning outcome critically (Keerthirathne, 2020). The role of peer support has also been found effective in engaging students as active participants in the learning process (Zander et al., 2018). Along with the integration of non-cognitive skills, peer support in the academic setting provided students with support to succeed and complete in their academic coursework.

### **Non-Cognitive Concepts and Peer Support**

Non-cognitive concepts like positive academic outlook, mindset, help-seeking, and engagement are combined to offer students effective academic support. Zander et al. (2018) found that growth mindsets support academic self-efficacy which indirectly supported students' integration in academic support networks and highlighted the benefits of providing help in academic networks among college students. Topping (2005) concluded that peer learning is effective in supporting learners' strengths and engages them as active participants in the learning process. Zander et al. (2018) saw a connection between positive academic outlooks along with peer support networks in providing academic support to learners.

Effective peer learning made use of non-cognitive elements. Topping (2005) provided a theoretical model of peer learning that explored five categories of processes that influence effectiveness of peer learning, finding that affect, or the emotional impact of tutoring, was an important part of an effective model. Non-cognitive factors played an important role in the successful peer learning model: self-regulation, metacognition, and self-esteem. Topping (2005) concluded that peer learning builds on individuals' strengths and engages them as active participants in the learning and that peer tutoring can be effective when it is used with a clear purpose, context, and population. The theoretical model provided in this article provides a way for practitioners to evaluate how the process of peer learning works. Peer learning is increasingly found in colleges and universities where the many benefits of it can be studied and observed.

#### **Social Element of Peer Support**

The role of peer support is part of the social element that supports learning. Vygotsky (1980) developed the social constructivism approach that proposed that higher functions emerge as a relationship between the learner and the others around him. Steyn and Van Tonder (2017) found female students often see learning as an active rather than passive attempt, seen in both an individual cognitive and a socially interactive activity and that students in hybrid learning conditions performed better than students in pure online or exclusively face-to-face, where the tutors creating a supportive adult learning climate.

Learning from peers' feedback and modeling is also an important part of the role of peer influence and support. Sheffler and Cheung (2020) found evidence of peer influence on mindset in short, 15-minute interactions. Limeri et al. (2020) identified observing peers as one factor that influenced undergraduates' mindsets, with future studies recommended to explore positive feedback during academic struggle. A qualitative descriptive study to understand the experience of community college learners at a writing center would provide new knowledge to understand how mindset modeled by peer tutors supports learners with academic writing assignments. Melguizo et al. (2017) found that these policy reforms are creating concern about colleges' ability to improve outcomes in an environment of constrained resources. The urgency to find practices that can be implemented to support students using resources that are available and currently in use is calling practitioners to find low-cost innovations that can make a difference in the success and completion of the most at-risk students.

Peer learning can also come from students watching other students model noncognitive skills that support academic behavior. Based on social cognitive theories of learning, the intervention used videos from former students who modeled the changes that allowed them to be successful in a biology college course, focusing on the studies that show students are more successful in these classes when they practice metacognition, self-regulation, self-assessment, and reflection. This study was a randomized controlled trial to test the effects of mindset interventions. Hecht et al. (2022) suggest that the mindset approach provides students with a new view of struggle; rather than struggle being an indicator of one that sees it as a progression to more strategic learning. The study consisted of three 15-minute intervention activities, a survey, course grade, persistence data, and then the analysis phase. One important connection as to why this intervention was successful for underrepresented students, is that they were able to see students they identified with discussing their strategies to overcome struggle and challenge.

## **Academic Element of Peer Support**

The strategic use of peer tutors in specific courses, such as peer assisted learning (PAL), is also a way to provide peer support as well as academic support to students. Verbeem and Harper (2019) found that peer to peer support is effective at supporting students at the university level. Focus group participants recorded that that PALs helped develop confidence and other skills in the students who participated. Khan and Watson (2018) also found that peers providing academic tutoring helped learners in a flipped classroom setting. Researchers concluded that peer leaders are able to offer helpful support to students seeking assistance and future research should continue to find ways to support peer-to-peer assistance. The combination of the non-cognitive concepts presented by peer learners provides an effective means of support for students. Balilah et al. (2020) suggested that PAL should be evaluated through by talking with students about their experiences with peer academic support. The recommendation for future study was to collect feedback from students, both tutors and tutees as well as faculty involved with the program to assess of outcomes by pre-and post-intervention assessment of the students.

Peer support is another means outside of the traditional academic classroom environment that support student success and completion. As peers both model and present the use of non-cognitive skills to students, the combination of these two elements provides students with another means to accessing academic achievement. The social dynamic as well as the academic support provides a unique grouping of student success strategies that research indicates is an effective means to support students in the academic context.

### Non-Cognitive Skills and Writing

Learning assistance professionals and researchers have looked at the role of internal factors on students and the influence they have on academic skills. Schubert (2017) found that the research literature in writing studies has overlooked the influence of non-cognitive factors like mindset on student writers. Driscoll et al. (2017) also explain that although internally held beliefs about ability are important to the learning process, their role in the writing process have not been studied and are new as an inquiry focus. Keerthirathne (2020) also described how peer learning shares attitudes and knowledge about academic skills. Non-cognitive skills can support students who are attempting college-level composition and writing courses for the first time, and studies have shown the connection between peer tutoring and self-efficacy for first year college students can support developing academic skills.

### **Internal Dispositions and Writing**

Internal dispositions are personal qualities that support the learner's academic behavior. Driscoll et al. (2017) used the term dispositions to mean those attitudes about personal qualities that can influence student learning: among the list are habits of mind, intrapersonal factors, and intelligent behaviors. Perkins et al. (2000) explained that the ability-centric focus of intellectual ability works to identify the tasks a student can perform, but the researchers also identified eight habits that support how learners use their academic abilities: they include traits like curiosity, openness, engagement, creativity, persistence, responsibility, and flexibility. Dispositions influence how students engage and participate in the process of learning to write at the college level.

Students engaged a variety of skills as they develop their ability to write at the college level. Conley and French (2014) define self-efficacy as the level of confidence a student has in their own ability complete a challenging task; it is also connected to academic performance, use of effort, and willingness to engage in new behaviors when faced with academic challenge. Driscoll et al. (2017) identified five dispositions that can be applied to writing development: attribution (internal or external motivation), persistence, self-efficacy, self-regulation (the ability to monitor revise, and improve writing), and value of learning experiences. These behaviors are also connected to college readiness. Students who do not experience success in college have often not experienced this kind of self-efficacy, the belief that one can overcome when faced with a challenge (Perin, et al., 2017).

The study of literacy learning in higher education is influenced by systems of socio-economic, political, and cultural inequity and it is important to continue studying these traits as they influence learner writing process (Driscoll et al., 2017). Students may experience conflict when the value of academic language seems to clash with personal, community, or cultural values. Philippakos (2020) identified that the writing process is both a cognitive and metacognitive activity, where student writers need to use a variety of

strategies to complete writing assignments, along with reflective activities that help them identify the strategies used, what was accomplished as well as setting goals and learning objectives for future writing activities. Literacy and writing skills are multifaceted and require a variety of academic and non-cognitive skills.

The use of metacognitive strategies can help adult learners support learning experiences. In a comparison study of writers identified as basic writers and those ready for college level writing courses, the results indicated that self-efficacy levels between the two groups was significant, with the basic writers experience lower self-efficacy and motivation (Philippakos et al., 2021). Mau and Harkness (2020) reported that Finland, Singapore, and South Korea used reflective feedback to facilitate this process, focusing on the strengths and growth areas of student learning. As adult learners reflected on their own learning, metacognitive activity strengthens the learning experience. Driscoll and Zhang (2022) also found that metacognition, thinking skills about one's own learning are important in supporting students as they build writing skills in college-level writing courses.

Peer learning can also be effective, as the non-cognitive elements support academic progress indirectly. Conley and French (2014) concluded that students with a variety of non-cognitive skills, like motivation, goal setting, self-efficacy, metacognition, extending effort, and a positive academic attitude, can be significant to success when faced with challenges in English. Plaskett et al. (2018) examined a program that connects incoming students with mentors from similar high-poverty school districts, like those within the major city from which the mentees originate. Only 50% of first-generation college students are likely to finish college with a degree, so mentoring programs are ways to provide support for new students who are unprepared for college experiences. This study found that first-generation students matched with successful first-generation and/or low-income upper-class mentors were most successful at creating relational instrumentality (Plaskett et al., 2018). The data in this study found that trusting relationships, with a focus on the mentee, where both are committed to the process are key to building a strong mentor-mentee relationship for first year college students.

The data indicates that high school GPA can indicate readiness for college level courses. Bahr et al. (2019) identified that students with certain GPAs are more prepared for college courses. Although research shows that non-cognitive skills support academic behavior, there is currently little inclusion in the curriculum that encourages students to work on non-cognitive skills that could support their academic progress more directly. Non-cognitive skills have been identified as important supports to for academic progress.

### **Supports for Underprepared Writing Students**

Students who are experiencing lack of growth and progress in their writing skills may be not have the dispositions that support this learning. Bandura (1977) explained that self-efficacy theory can provide insight to the way learners view their beliefs about their own capabilities, so that student with low self-efficacy may view challenging work harder than it is, keeping them from even trying to complete the work. For students without the dispositions like a positive academic mindset or help seeking behaviors, they may continue to struggle without asking questions or seeking help to support their progress. Driscoll and Wells (2012) called for more research on learners in writing courses so understand what they bring with them in college writing courses and how dispositions support learning in those courses. One strategy is to introduce non-cognitive skills to student writers. Driscoll and Zhang (2022) uncovered the dispositions that unprepared students may lack that negatively influence accessing the needed academic skills for success in higher education, finding the absence of modeling of these factors in the academic context. Perry et al. (2019) concluded in a meta-study of over 50 research projects that metacognition is a strong predictor of academic performance and that the effective teaching of metacognitive skills can make a significant difference for pupil outcomes. Hattie's (2011) extensive research identifies strategies like self-evaluation, help seeking, problem solving, and ongoing feedback are all ways to integrate metacognition into student practice. Unprepared students can benefit from the introduction to non-cognitive strategies.

Several studies have found important connections to student dispositions and writing development. Driscoll and Zhang (2022) conducted a study using a longitudinal approach, collecting nine years of qualitative data in the writing samples of two writers over the course of their development. Their research identified the importance of dispositions in a writer's development along with previous experiences with writing, time, and significant writing experiences in developing writerly skills. The researchers followed two writers and found that resources like support and opportunities, along with the student's identity as a writer, and their disposition, like mindset and help-seeking, were found to be important contributors to a writer's development. Nelson et al. (2012) found that at risk students who were offered support the created a bridge between classroom and support services to strengthen learning and engagement were found to persist first year college courses as well as achieve higher final grades that those not in the program. Strengthening dispositions seem to offer students support for their academic achievement.

Open access community colleges, with very few requirements for admission, are open to all students, regardless of previous academic progress and achievement. Due to a variety of educational, cultural, and financial experiences, students who are entering directly into college-level courses may need additional academic support. Writers who face college-level writing that requires skills that include word usage, sentence creation along with making rhetorical choices about the purpose, tone, and audience. The task of writing a paper can create overload as well as feelings of cognitive inadequacy or disengagement, which may result in a variety of situations that hinder students from doing any work. Motivation can significantly affect performance on writing tasks and the level of persistence (Philippakos et al., 2021). Writing can be challenging at many levels for low achieving writers who were, prior to AB 705, placed in basic or pre-college writing classes. Students who enter directly into college level courses must face these complex writing tasks without assignment scaffolding or support unless they are able to access non-cognitive behaviors like help-seeking and self-efficacy.

### **Research on Tutoring**

At the community college level, there are several different ways that writing tutoring is offered where peer tutors provide support for undergraduate students, offering practice in using non-cognitive skills to support academic behavior. Wilson and Arendale (2011) identified four different tutoring models: peer-led team learning, structured learning support, emerging scholars programs, and supplemental instruction. A community of students who have similar academic aspirations and a willingness to help other students is another feature that the models share. Sometimes students with lower grades are required to take a co-curricular course; some institutions will place a tutor in a course with high failure rates. The effectiveness of these programs frequently depends on peer tutors who have received training and on the support of the faculty or staff involved (Wilson & Arendale, 2011). Additionally, tutors are associated with courses; in some cases, this is done formally as a Student Instructor (SI), where a student who has successfully completed the course attends class and provides tutoring and seminars for enrolled students, scheduling workshop hours and subjects while collaborating closely with the professor. A writing center may offer tutorial programs that are available to all students enrolled in writing classes across a range of subject areas as well as to specific first year writing courses depending on the funding and organization of different colleges or universities.

Peer to peer learning programs have also been successful at creating a positive school environment and a feeling of belonging, another important non-cognitive student support. Although these are not academic skills, they seem to support successful academic behaviors. Allbright et al. (2019) found that schools that used peer to peer programs cultivated better social-emotional learning. One concept that was integrated was growth mindset, with a focus on the use of mistakes in a positive way, adding "yet" to "I can't do [something] yet. There were multiple practices that were put into practice including creating a positive school environment and student behavior, promoting relationships through extracurricular activities, and classroom practices. Duran et al. (2020) used multiple linear regression analyses to examine data from 7,888 students and found that belonging was associated with participation in numerous collegiate

environments. The researchers used a survey designed to assess the relationship between on-campus experiences and student outcomes from two private and six public 4-year institutions across the U.S. Duran et al. (2020) discovered important connections regarding the role of peer relationships contributing to belongingness and the impact on success and completion. The study also found that a supportive campus environment including peer support improved students' belongingness. A supportive peer network was also a predictor for belongingness. Further studies should work to understand student perspectives on sociocultural issues with peers and how this relates to belonging.

Structured Learning Assistance (SLA) is another method for providing peer support to students in college writing courses. A quantitative quasi-experimental design looked at performance data of students in English 101 classes who had also attended SLA support sessions. The study found that students in a college-level writing course who worked with advanced students who provided support passed the course in greater numbers, from 66.5% to 82% (Giraldo-García & Magiste, 2018). The SLA model provides students with a tutor who attends the course and models attendance, note-taking, and other learning strategies. The tutor also works with the faculty member to support student progress by offering more practice, strategies, and guidance than a traditional course.

This study on the SLA model found that the more hours the students participated in the SLA tutorial activities, which included information about services across campus along with effective learning strategies, problem solving skills, and collaborative activities, the better the students did in the college writing course (Giraldo-García & Magiste, 2018). There are many benefits to this kind of peer-learning, as it supports the academic development as well as non-cognitive strategies that support student learning. Giraldo-García and Magiste (2018) used Vygotsky's socio-cultural theory of learning and development and the role of more experienced peers in the learning process of the student, illustrating how students can reach higher levels when they interact with more advanced peers. Their research found that further studies could benefit the understanding of first year students' point of view as to how these experiences influenced their academic performance.

Peer to peer learning has also been found to support students' collective feeling of self-efficacy, another non-cognitive skill. Khan and Watson (2018) studied how communities of practice are developed through peer learning in flipped classrooms, where debate and discussion are encouraged. In this model, as the peer learning develops, the teacher relinquishes authority to students and assumes the role of a facilitator. Students work in groups and make use of peer learning, with many opportunities for feedback from peers, tutors, and the lecturer. The study showed an 11.6% higher mean examination mark on average compared with the traditional classroom.

Another non-cognitive skill that is supported by peer learning and tutoring is growth mindset. Miller's (2020) semester-long, mixed methods study identified that course embedded tutoring could influence student mindset, with a recommendation to see how training tutors with mindset theory could influence students who worked with those tutors. Miller (2020) demonstrated that growth minded tutors could effectively help students persist and complete course work while facing academic challenges. The research also found in a blind reading of student writing, the revised papers better in terms of organization, style, and mechanics than those of students who had not worked
with the tutor. Miller's findings indicate that a growth minded tutor can improve students' writing performance and influence their mindsets as well. The conclusion of this study established that writing centers can play an important role in promoting noncognitive skills like growth mindset.

Peer learning programs have also been successful at creating a positive school environment and a feeling of belonging. Although these are not academic skills, they support successful academic behaviors. Allbright et al. (2019) found that when growth mindset was integrated in the learning environment, with a focus on the use of mistakes in a positive way, adding "yet" to "I can't do [something] yet, the feeling of belonging was strengthened. The study also found that a supportive campus environment including peer support improved students' belongingness. Further studies should work to understand peer learning models and how these programs support belonging, which supports academic achievement.

Interestingly, both tutee and tutor benefited from the peer-to-peer learning experience. Abbot et al. (2018) studied peer tutoring to fill the gap of the absence of tutor voice in the literature. The case study exploring peer tutoring in higher education provided insight into the world of the tutor, providing new information on the role of the professor-student relationship, the importance of role expectations, and the issue of tutor positionality. Brown (2008) studied eleven students with writing projects from across the disciplines along with nine peer writing tutors. Future research should continue to explore the tutor experience as well as focus on how tutoring supports the tutors' learning. Future studies should involve more participants, with more diverse population with more time for longer interviews in order to ask follow-up questions. The study's conclusions focused on more training for tutors and specific assignments that could be used to effectively train new peer tutors, which supports the methods that could be used in surveying students after they have worked with a tutor who has been trained in mindset theory.

To summarize, non-cognitive skills can be are used to support academic behaviors as well as college level writing skills. Studies have showed the connection between writing and internal dispositions like metacognition, habits of mind, and self-efficacy (Driscoll et al., 2017; Philippakos, 2020). Several studies have also found that students could benefit from mentor relationships that allowed them to observe successful student behavior (Driscoll & Zhang, 2022; Plaskett et al., 2018). The demands of college level writing are complex, and peer support can provide assistance through the process (Philippakos et al., 2021). Miller's (2020) study on learner attitudes about effort and motivation in challenging environments are important to understanding the effects of growth minded tutors. More research is needed to understand how peer tutors can support community college students in their academic success and completion. Students can develop non-cognitive skills to support their academic success and completion through different avenues, such as increased engagement, success through challenges, and interventions that focus on the neuroplasticity of the brain. Peer support has been found to be an effective means to support academic progress.

# **Problem Statement**

Completion rates in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. The problem to be addressed in this study is that due to legislation removing developmental courses, community college adult learners must enter directly into college-level courses creating higher fail and dropout rates than previously seen because students face increased challenge without the needed support. Peer tutoring with a growth mindset may lead to increased effort, to application of new learning strategies, and to encouragement to persist for students who don't have an opportunity to take developmental courses.

The population of interest includes all California community college students over the age of 18. The sample will be taken from the target population, which includes California community college students enrolled in English composition courses who are 18 years of age and older. Based on what is known in the literature, this problem can be addressed by introducing non-cognitive skills and practices to help learners engage in more effective academic behavior. What is still needed in the research are studies that look to the student experience in order to understand how peer tutoring, modeling growth mindset and supporting non-cognitive skills, can support academic behavior for students in college level courses. Mosanya (2020) identified that mindset also has an impact on learning, motivation, resilience, and performance. First year composition students commonly work with tutors to help them work on course assigned writing; this can assist in completing these assignments and the course (Miller, 2020; Schubert, 2017). Noncognitive supports, like mindset, help seeking, and self-efficacy, are non-cognitive skills that support academic behavior. Within the context of tutoring these skills could provide motivational and attitude change offering students new strategies that can help them complete first year courses.

The research literature presents a problem that still needs to be understood; how non-cognitive skills support students taking college courses for the first time. Farruggia et al. (2018) concluded that academic mindset can be broken down into the non-cognitive skills of academic self-efficacy, belonging, and academic motivation; they recommended that future research should examine this by testing different profiles of mindsets on academic performance and retention. A better understanding of how students learn and apply non-cognitive skills to support their academic progress is needed. Studies indicate that peer support is one way for students to see non-cognitive skills modeled (Miller, 2020; Schubert, 2017). The issue of concern is that as community colleges remove access to developmental courses, which have traditionally provided students with academic support, students could benefit from understanding how non-cognitive skills support academic behavior during first year general education courses. Although the California state legislation AB 705 has increased enrollment in the transfer level courses, the success rates in transfer-level English and math classes have decreased by eight percentage points and five percentage points for English in the past year (Brohawn et al., 2021). Historically, community college students are already completing coursework at a low rate, with 13% of California community college students earning an associate degree after two years and only 48% of all students completing an Associates of Art degree within six years (Jackson et al., 2019).

Since the passage of AB 705 occurred in 2018, California community college educators and administrators are only beginning to experience the consequences of the bill, with early statistics showing that it may create another barrier for students who are no longer able to access developmental or pre-transfer courses. Although more students are taking college level English courses, success rates are decreasing by 5% in English courses (Brohawn et al., 2021). This legislation requires that colleges implement programs to support students in their first transfer level courses; the need for research on how to best support students is strong. The legislation also prohibits students from being tested and then placed into lower than college level courses. Community colleges can use this new legislation as an opportunity to find new ways to support students in their firstyear courses.

### **Summary**

Research literature on non-cognitive supports show the power in the behaviors that come from a growth mindset to support students in their academic endeavors. There are a variety of strategies and techniques that educational researchers have implemented to help students learn to use these support skills to boost their academic achievement. A positive mindset about academic ability predicted effort in learning (Aditomo, 2015). Destin et al. (2019) also found a connection between learners' outlook that supported effort and academic achievement. Researchers continue to study how adult learners tap into motivation to face increased challenge in first year college courses. Tight (2020) recommended involving the student directly in the research to find keys to engagement that will support students completing college courses successfully. Growth mindset characteristics, or non-cognitive traits, were identified as supporting a positive attitude toward learning, with a value on feedback and constructive criticism in order to build on their skills (Kannangara et al., 2018). With low completion rates in composition courses, two-year public institutions of higher education in California are in need of practices that will support students who do not have the option to take developmental courses. Kearney et al. (2020) evaluated the influence of non-cognitive factors among a diverse student body, finding that non-cognitive practices, like growth mindset, in students lead to improved academic achievement.

Completion rates in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. Educational researchers are calling for future research in the area of growth mindset and noncognitive skills, to understand how they support students during academic struggle. White et al. (2021) expressed the need for research for tutoring, tutor training, and understanding the non-cognitive or soft skills that support community college students in first year composition courses.

The traditional educational model of viewing students in first year college courses in a deficit minded frame, with descriptive words for students like unprepared, not ready, in need of remediation, has been replaced with a student asset-based perspective, more in line with Dweck's mindset theory, with the idea that students bring a variety of strengths that need to be developed in order to help them. Dweck's (2012) growth mindset theory presents the concept that as students view their intelligence as malleable and able to change, they are more motivated to engage in the effort and new strategies that are needed to succeed in college-level composition courses.

The mindset theory offers a theoretical framework that can be used to explain why some learners focus on their lack of ability while other learners focus on the strategies and effort that help them face challenging work (Dweck & Leggett, 1988). This model can be used to understand motivational processes and the use of non-cognitive traits like academic effort, metacognition, academic attitude, habits of mind, engagement and help seeking in college students in. Studies seem to indicate that non-cognitive factors support successful academic behaviors. Successful students describe failure as way to grow while completing academically challenging assignments; challenges and setbacks as seen as opportunities to grow (Dweck & Yeager, 2019; Yeager et al., 2016, 2019). The mindset theory helps peer tutors support students develop a growth mindset to support them during academic challenges with writing. Dweck's theory (2009) provides the means for looking at how students describe their experiences with college writing and how a peer tutor engages and supports them through the writing process.

There is a need for continued research to support student completion of first year courses in a community college system that is removing traditional supports for underprepared students, such as placement testing and course prerequisites. The topics this chapter covered were non-cognitive factors that support student success, noncognitive interventions that support student success, peer support of students, and the connection between non-cognitive skills and writing. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. First year composition courses often provide the first college course experience for students; they provide students with an understanding of the complex task of writing as a foundation for future academic experience. Students who work with tutors find it helpful as they work on college writing assignments; this can assist in completing these assignments and the course (Miller, 2020; Schubert, 2017). Non-cognitive supports, like mindset, help seeking, and self-efficacy, within the context of tutoring could provide motivational and attitude change offering students new strategies that can help them complete first year courses.

The following chapter describes and justifies this study's methodology and design. Chapter 3 also presents the purpose of the study, research questions, population, sample sources of data, data collection method, and data analysis process. It also reviews trustworthiness and ethical considerations. There are many studies on student support and interventions using non-cognitive skills and peer tutoring, but to understand the student experience through their descriptions will add new information to this topic.

#### **Chapter 3: Methodology**

# Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. Helping students find the motivation to put forth effort and try new learning strategies can provide important support for academic achievement (Destin et al., 2019). Kannangara et al. (2018) found that learners with a positive attitude towards effort valued feedback and had more positive attitudes toward learning. Other non-cognitive supports like academic effort, metacognition, academic attitude, habits of mind, and engagement are key for students to face academic challenge. Students who believe they can face challenge do better than those who doubt their abilities, and studies indicate that exposure to the noncognitive concepts can support students academically (Dweck, 1999; Dweck & Yeager, 2019; Yeager et al., 2019). Non-cognitive supports have been shown to provide motivational and attitude changes, offering students new strategies that can help them complete first year courses.

The problem statement and research questions of the study focus on uncovering the experiences of students seeking support from a peer tutor trained in growth mindset. All tutors at the community college where the proposed study will take place have been trained to work with students using a growth mindset perspective. AB 705 imposed new curriculum restrictions limiting the access to developmental courses that are often taken prior to first year college courses. Students who experience tutoring with a growth mindset tutor may attempt more effort and persistence as they take college level courses. Miller (2020) found that writing tutors who have been trained to tutor with a growth mindset provide several important elements to the learning process: they model a growth mindset by showing students that improving writing applies not only to the assignment but also to future writing tasks. The peer tutor learns to address the academic issue in the paper as well as support the student's growth and development as a learner. At the community college where this study will be conducted, all writing tutors are trained in a similar manner as those in Miller's study (2020): training modules include an introduction to growth mindset, using several articles by Dweck on neuroplasticity and growth mindset coaching, assigning personal mindset assessments, and viewing videos on growth mindset. Tutors engage in written reflections regarding learning, participate in follow up meetings that focus on these topics, and learn to foster a positive atmosphere when helping students face academic challenges by focusing on the belief in student ability to grow and learn. Due to legislation the prevents community colleges from offering developmental courses, community college adult learners must enter directly into college-level courses, creating higher failure and dropout rates than previously seen because students face increased challenge without support.

Chapter 3 contains a description of the study methodology and design, presenting the reasons that support a qualitative descriptive design for this study. This chapter will discuss the research questions and the data sources that will be used to collect data for each question and the population and sample in the study. Chapter 3 also contains a discussion of trustworthiness; data collection, management, and data analysis procedures; ethical considerations; and assumptions and delimitations.

### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. By conducting interviews and focus groups, the researcher will work to understand perceptions of students who experience growth mindset tutoring while completing a first-year composition course. First year composition students commonly attend tutoring to help them work on course assigned writing. Tutoring can help students complete these assignments and the course (Miller, 2020; Schubert, 2017; White et al., 2021). There is a need to better understand students' descriptions of tutoring with growth mindset experiences and how it affects student effort and persistence.

#### **Phenomenon and Research Questions**

The proposed qualitative descriptive study will investigate the phenomenon of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring as experienced by community college students. The research questions will address students' perceptions and descriptions of their experiences with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring. Due to legislation removing developmental courses, community college adult learners must enter directly into college-level courses creating high fail and dropout rates than previously seen because students face increased challenge without the needed academic and motivational support. The following research questions will guide this qualitative descriptive design study:

• **RQ0:** How do community college students in Southern California describe their experience with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

- **RQ1:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of effort learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ2:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of new strategies learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ3:** How do community college community college students in Southern California describe the role of encouragement to persist through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

The questions address the issues presented in the problem space: the need for future studies to understand how growth mindset tutoring supports students during college-level coursework without the typical developmental classes that has been used to provide academic support for learners. RQ0 speaks directly to the problem space, focusing on how students describe the benefits of tutoring during their composition course.

The next research questions, RQ1 and RQ2, focus on how the non-cognitive support of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring is experienced by students as they complete college level course work in their first year of college without any opportunity for developmental or pre-transfer coursework. Interview and focus group questions will ask students to describe how their effort towards the academic work changed and how they adopted new strategies after working with a peer tutor who was trained in growth mindset. The third question, RQ3, looks at persistence. Interview and focus group questions will ask about the role of the peer tutor as supportive ally who provides encouragement through growth mindset tutoring to persist during academic challenge. These allow for students to describe their experiences in college-level courses while working with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring.

The study will take an individualized approach toward the students sampled, using interviews and focus groups to record the student experiences with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring while taking college-level courses. One-on-one interviews and focus groups will be used in this study. One-on-one interviews are used to glean rich detail and answers, and are often used in qualitative studies (Crouse et al., 2011), and Ochieng et al. (2018) identified focus groups as a qualitative approach to gain data from a selected group of individuals to document content of the discussion to supplement the data collection. Rather than data that focuses on numbers and comparisons, researchers who chose qualitative studies want data that will allow them to explore all of the elements of an event in language that is used in that natural environment (Sandelowski, 2000).

### **Rationale for a Qualitative Methodology**

This study will collect rich data about learner experiences with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring. Driscoll and Perdue (2014) argued that a replicable, aggregable, and data-supported (RAD) research design works well for writing center inquiry and should be used because it allows researchers to build knowledge and collect data to support a set of evidence-supported best practices with methods that can be replicated. Qualitative methodology should be used with the researcher who wants to collect rich data about learner experiences with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring and to use an individualized approach toward the students surveyed. Lambert and Lambert (2012) also identified that qualitative studies provide straight forward description, which is useful when researchers want to know the *who* and *what* of a phenomenon.

Quantitative methodology focuses on numerical statistical data. Hochbein and Smeaton (2018) identified that quantitative data is used to implement interventions, curricula, and reforms when supported by strong research evidence. The focus for this study is not quantitative in nature. Yilmaz (2013) defines quantitative studies as those focused on outcomes, generalization, prediction, and cause-effect relationships through deductive reasoning. Liggett et al. (2011) also explained that writing center researchers often use descriptive studies with observation of behaviors, events, and social phenomena, with little interruption to the context as possible. Researchers who chose qualitative studies want data that will allow them to explore all of the elements of an event in language that is used in that natural environment (Sandelowski, 2010). The generalized approach works well for quantitative studies, but a qualitative study narrows the focus to center on individual experiences and descriptions.

The study will take an individualized approach toward the students surveyed, using interviews and focus groups to record the student experience with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring while taking college-level courses. Vasileiou et al. (2018) found that open questions, asked later in the interview, produced richer data, which supports qualitative research. This study will use qualitative methodology to explore how peermodeled growth mindset tutoring can be used to support community college learners by gathering perceptions of learners. This study will use mindset theory to study the impact of non-cognitive supports on the phenomenon.

### **Rationale for Research Design**

A qualitative descriptive design allows the researcher to explore and produce new understandings and rich descriptions (Magilvy & Thomas, 2009). It describes the

phenomenon (Bradshaw et. al., 2017). This study will use qualitative descriptive design to uncover new understandings and rich descriptions of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring as experienced by community college students. This study will use mindset theory to find patterns to further delineate the framework.

Other qualitative designs include phenomenological, narrative, case study, and grounded theory. A phenomenological design seeks to understand how people experience a particular situation, focusing on a lived experience and providing a frame of reference for a rigorous studying of human phenomena (Giorgi, 2012). A narrative design is understood to be an ethnographic approach to eliciting understandings; it also has a greater focus on narrative construction from a variety of perspectives (Pavlenko, 2002). It is also an exploration of the stories humans tell to make sense of lived experience (Lewis & Adeney, 2014). A case study is used to discover and examine an individual or institution that is bounded by time and place. (Nilmanat & Kurniawan, 2020). Grounded Theory is used when little is known about a phenomenon to develop a theory or model grounded in the data (Chun et al., 2019).

The proposed study does not use lived experience of the tutoring experience or create a frame of reference to study the phenomena, therefore the phenomenological design is not preferred. The study will not record stories of tutoring using the narrative or lived experience methodology. This study is not bounded by time and place in relation to tutoring, nor will it focus on one individual or similar group of individuals from one institution, so the case study was not proposed. The study's purpose does not involve creation of a model for growth mindset tutoring, so grounded theory was not an option for the proposed study. Although there are other qualitative designs to choose from like

phenomenological, narrative, case study, and grounded theory, those were not chosen for this study due to the benefits brought by a descriptive design.

# **Population and Sample Selection**

Qualitative studies work with large populations consisting of appropriate members who fit the phenomenon (Asiamah et al., 2017). The general population at the 2-year college where this study will take place includes approximately 14,000 students, with 76% 24 years or younger and 24% over 25 years old. The target population will be approximately 900 students at this college who are enrolled in a first-year composition course with a goal to complete the course and pursue an associate degree or transfer and who work with a tutor. The sample will consist of a subset of the target population who can be called upon to describe their experiences (Asiamah et al., 2017). Email addresses of the target population will be collected from the Writing Center databases; permission has been given to do so by the Dean of Institutional Effectiveness. The target population will be invited to participate in the study, with a recruitment of 30 to 40 to account for attrition: 12 for interviews, and two focus groups of 5-7 people. All of the participants will have met with a writing center tutor at a community college located in California where the study will take place. Qualitative studies tend to require a minimum sample size of 13 to reach data saturation (Vasileiou et al., 2018), so this sample size will be within parameters established for this type of research. Participants will be reminded that the data collected will be confidential and only used for the goals of the current study.

# Study Sample and Sampling Strategy

The Institutional Research Office at the community college provided site approval to conduct this study (See Appendix B). Sampling strategies used will be purposive, and

will extend to snowball and convenience sampling should the need to increase the sample size arise.

Plan A: Purposive sampling will be used by the researcher, asking the Writing Center Coordinators to collect email addresses of students. These email addresses will come from the Writing Center database of email addresses of students in composition classes who have worked with a tutor. Emails will be sent to students who took composition courses and worked with a tutor. An email will be sent to students asking them to respond if they are over 18 and have worked with a tutor while taking the class. The informed consent letter as well as the study description will be included. Purposive sampling, based on characteristics of a population and the objective of the study, will be used by contacting the population directly (Palinkas et al., 2015). The study will use direct email to send the informed consent letter as well as the study description. All participants will receive a \$10 Starbucks gift card to be emailed following their interview.

Plan B: Another strategy will be to use chain or snowball sampling to request assistance from faculty to contact population (Penrod et al., 2003) should the initial sampling plan not result in an adequate sample size. Requests will be sent to faculty to send out an invitation to their composition students; if they have attended a session at the Writing Center and are over 18 years of age they will be invited to respond. The recruitment email can also be sent to all students from previous semesters who have taken composition and worked with a tutor, including an option to indicate preference for oneon-one interview or focus group participation. The informed consent letter will be sent out as well. Plan C: Finally, convenience sampling based on participants' accessibility and/or proximity to the research at the Writing Center (Bornstein et al., 2013) will serve as a back-up plan for recruiting. Convenience sampling based on participants' accessibility and/or proximity to the research at the Writing Center will be used if required (Bornstein et al., 2013). Recruitment via flyers displayed and passed out to students who visit the Writing Center, are in a composition class and are over 18 years of age. The description of the study, the participant requirements and expectations will be presented to these students when they come for an appointment.

According to Braun and Clarke (2013), 10-20 interviews are appropriate for a standard qualitative research project. The target population consists of the eligible participants based on the study's criteria (Penrod et al., 2003). The inclusion criteria include being a student over 18 who is taking a composition course and working with a tutor. Exclusion criteria would include students under 18 or those not taking a composition course.

# **Sources of Data**

# **Research Data**

Sources of qualitative data for this study will include open-ended, digitally recorded one-on-one semi-structured interviews, and two focus groups. No video cameras will be used during the interviews or focus group. Students in the sample will participate in either an interview or a focus group. Multiple data sources capture different descriptions to ensure a broad and thoughtful study (Sandelowski, 2000). The semistructured one-on-one interview questions and focus group protocols were developed with the study's design, problem statement, and problem space in mind. Questions are focused on students' experiences and perceptions during tutoring while in a college level course. Braun and Clarke (2006) recommend that the narrow research questions support broader research questions that, when analyzed, provide data that will provide answers; these questions may be refined as the project develops. The interview and focus group questions were reviewed and approved by an expert panel and field tested for design and clarity (Appendix E and H).

**Research Data Source #1.** The first research data source will include open-ended semi-structured interviews with students who have taken or are taking a composition course at a two-year college (see Appendix F for interview protocol). Vasileiou et al. (2018) found that researchers proposed an initial analysis sample of 10 interviews with the goal of achieving saturation. Hennink et al. (2017) found that code saturation was reached at nine interviews, up to 16 interviews provided a deeper understanding of the research. Interviews will be held in person with the Zoom platform used as an alternative if needed. Zoom or a digital recording device will be used to record the interviews.

Interview questions were designed to align with the study's three research questions (See Appendix F). Kegler et al. (2019) explained that many qualitative studies used interviews or focus groups as the main approach to collecting data. The following research questions guided the creation of questions for this qualitative descriptive design study:

- **RQ0:** How do community college students in Southern California describe their experience with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ1:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of effort learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

- **RQ2:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of new strategies learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ3:** How do community college community college students in Southern California describe the role of encouragement to persist through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

The interview questions address the issues presented in the problem space: the need for future studies to understand how students use non-cognitive supports like growth mindset to help them pass college-level coursework without the typical developmental coursework that has been used to provide academic support for learners. RO0 speaks directly to the problem space, focusing on how students describe the role of academic support to complete first year courses; the interview questions ask participants to reflect on difficult assignments and experiences with feeling stuck during their writing process. RQ1 and RQ2 focuses on how the non-cognitive support of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring provides assistance to students who must complete college-level course work in their first year of college using effort and new strategies. RQ3 focuses on encouragement to persist experienced while working with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring. The framework of mindset theory is used when mindset and effort are included in the questions. These allow for students to reflect on the non-cognitive skills that have supported their academic behaviors while taking college- level course work and who worked with tutors who has been trained to work with students with a growth mindset.

Interview questions were field tested prior to the study being conducted, and feedback from the process was used to slightly modify the questions. Two students who completed their first-year composition course with a peer tutor trained with growth mindset were recruited for the field test. They were sent the informed consent agreement to read and sign prior to the interview. The interviews were held using Zoom; the interviews were recorded, and transcripts of the interviews were reviewed for accuracy. Field test participants also provided suggestions about the clarity of the questions and any other feedback about the experience. This provided the opportunity to practice using Zoom for interviews as well as to revise questions. This information gathered during field testing will not be included in the study's data set. The results of the field test were used to revise the instruments. The interview field test highlighted the need for a few questions about the student's experience with growth mindset before and after tutoring as well as their view of intelligence. See Appendix H for the changes that were made to the initial questions. After AQR and IRB approval, informed consent forms will be sent to composition students who used tutoring during the course who volunteer to participate. **Research Data Source #2.** The second research data source will include focus groups with students who have taken or are taking a composition course at a two-year college (see Appendix G). Kegler et al. (2019) identified the median number of focus groups conducted was approximately 5-7, ranging in size from 2 to 13 participants. Focus groups can be held in person with the Zoom platform available as an alternative. Zoom and a digital recording device will be used to record the interviews.

The focus group questions (See Appendix G) center on the experiences of peer support, facing challenge, feeling unprepared, and motivation. These topics are connected to the research questions of the study because they ask participants to reflect on the role of peer tutoring support while engaging in challenging academic work in a composition course. The questions on effort and strategies seek to uncover what participants say supports their progress as they engage in help-seeking behavior during academic challenge. As with the interview questions, the focus group questions were field tested with three participants. The growth and fixed mindset statements were added, giving the group the opportunity to discuss why they agreed or disagreed with statements and how they related to the questions about their experience with a peer tutor trained with growth mindset.

# Additional Data

Additional Data Source #1. In addition to semi-structured interviews and focus groups using open-ended questions, additional basic demographic data will also be collected at the end of interviews and focus group following the receipt of informed consent. Demographic data is collected and used to help the researcher understand and describe the sample for the study (Archibald et al., 2019). The researcher will ask several basic demographic questions. These will be gathered to gain basic information about the participants and provide clarity about who the students are in this study. (See Appendix F and G for protocols). The demographic questions will allow for a clear description of the participants involved in the study.

# Trustworthiness

This section describes the four key elements that together serve to produce confidence in the research procedures and results of a qualitative study: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Nowell et al. (2017) refer to these criteria as introduced by Lincoln and Guba in 1985 to demonstrate trustworthiness in qualitative studies in order to meet the expectations of acceptability and usefulness in research. The biases or weaknesses to the study come from the nature of the self-reported data from participants and the biases of the researcher. The trustworthiness of research is supported by the credibility, dependability, transferability, and confirmability of the qualitative study.

### Credibility

Credibility describes the internal validity of the study (Nowell et al., 2017). Other criteria also contribute to the credibility of a study, including triangulation in data collection as well as an external check on the research process (Nowell et al., 2017). Member checking is another strategy to maintain the credibility of a study. The use of Zoom served as a highly suitable platform for collecting qualitative interview data when compared to other commonly used VoIP technologies (Archibald et al., 2019). Recordings and accurate transcription also contribute to the credibility of the study. By maintaining the transparency of the data collection plan a researcher can help to ensure the credibility of the study.

### **Dependability**

Dependability refers to the reliability of the research procedures of the study. Stahl and King (2020) found that the involvement of peers in the process is an important part of this criteria. One factor is to include another researcher in the reading and reviewing of notes and reactions during the research process. Integrating an audit process that allows another researcher to follow the ways decisions were made can also support the dependability of the study (Sandelowski, 2010). Nowell et al. (2017) recommended keeping records of the raw data, field notes, transcripts, and a reflexive journal in order to ensure the dependability of a study.

# **Transferability**

Transferability refers to the degree to which findings are applicable to other situations. The researcher is responsible for providing thick descriptions, with much detail so that those who seek to transfer the findings to their own site can judge transferability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Stahl and King (2020) explained that qualitative inquiry seeks to expand understanding not only by developing new knowledge but by also transferring findings from one context to another. The applicability of the study to multiple areas as well as to future research will gage its transferability

### *Confirmability*

Confirmability refers to the ability of other researchers to confirm the study's findings. Stahl and King (2020) examine confirmability by identifying how close to objective reality as qualitative research can get while also counting on precision and accuracy in the research practice. The involvement of other researchers can also be used as a strategy to build confirmability by sharing the theoretical, methodological, and analytical choices through coding, in order to share how and why decisions were made during the research study (Nowell et al., 2017).

### **Data Collection and Management**

The researcher will conduct data collection using the site of a 2-year college campus. Using two different data sources, the researcher will conduct one-on-one interviews and two focus groups. Site permission has been granted from executive team, division deans, Teaching and Learning Center Supervisor, and Writing Center Coordinator (see Appendix B). The proposed study will be submitted to IRB at GCU. Faculty who are teaching composition courses may be asked to assist with recruitment if needed. Electronic forms will be used for invitations to participate in interviews and focus groups. Zoom may be used for interviews if a face-to-face format is not possible.

An expert panel of PhDs and EdDs were used to review qualitative instruments such as interviews and focus groups. The results of the field test were used to revise the instruments as necessary. The questions were field tested with three interviews and a focus group; this allowed for interview practice, assessment and revision of questions, and feedback of the interview process. This data will not be used in the final study (See Appendix H). After AQR and IRB approval, consent forms will be sent to composition students who used tutoring during the course.

The following steps will be used to collect data:

Step 1: Use student email addresses from Writing Center database and faculty contacts and class enrollment lists from college administrators.

Step 2: Informed consent, screening questions, and criteria to be completed by participants.

Step 3: Interview and focus group invitations sent to participants who have completed informed consent.

Step 4: Time and place coordinated for interviews and focus group.

Step 5: Questions will be asked about effort, learning strategies, challenge, peer tutors, and mindset. Responses will be collected, and hand coded to identify themes.

Step 6: Interviews and focus groups conducted and recorded. The Zoom platform may be used if needed.

Data management strategies will be used to protect all participants. Data will be collected and stored on a laptop with password protection and stored for at least three years. Data will be backed up using a password protected flash drive. Data is protected by a code and password so that long-term confidentiality will be maintained by removal of personal data. A de-identified copy of all of the data and the data analysis will be stored in the LDP in the folder that will be placed there so that the AQR reviewers can review the data and data analysis. Data will be destroyed when flash drive is wiped clean three years after the publication of the study.

### **Data Analysis Procedures**

Completion rates in composition courses are low at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, and it is not known how students, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. The interview and focus group questions are designed to provide data needed to answer the following research questions:

- **RQ0:** How do community college students in Southern California describe their experience with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ1:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of effort learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

- **RQ2:** How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of new strategies learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- **RQ3:** How do community college community college students in Southern California describe the role of encouragement to through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

The data analysis approach for the study will be inductive thematic analysis. Braun and Clarke (2006) recommended that in the analysis of themes, there should be a disconnection between the questions and the themes that are found in the data. Data will come from interviews and focus groups using open-ended questions. Responses from interviews will be combined and analyzed using thematic analysis and focus group responses will be combined and analyzed using thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Guest et al. (2006) found that qualitative studies using purposeful sampling should attempt to hold 12 interviews in order to achieve data saturation. The process for the analysis of the raw data will be as follows:

Step 1: Read data: Open-ended questions will be transcribed and coded using thematic analysis. Themes will be identified in the data of student experience and description of working with a growth-minded tutor in order to analyze and report with consideration to the phenomenon (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Step 2: Generate codes from open-ended data by reading it carefully multiple times, taking notes in a three-column format that can help to identify preliminary codes guided by the research questions and the elements of the framework. Qualitative research has much smaller participant numbers than quantitative studies due to the time-consuming process of reading and taking notes on the raw data during this step (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Step 3: After coding, creating the preliminary themes that are relevant to the phenomena under study (Braun & Clarke, 2020). The process includes monitoring and following patterns that develop as data is reviewed.

Step 4: Review themes with the intent to refine and edit the initial themes. This may lead to confirm that enough data has been collected for each theme (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Step 5: Ongoing analysis to define and name themes in order to connect to the study's central focus. Themes will be defined by the researcher and reviewed for the development of sub-themes (Braun & Clarke, 2016).

Step 6: Produce report that discusses findings that will be included in Chapter 4. The report should convince the reader of the validity of the themes and be free of bias (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Outside software like MAXQDA can be used along with hand coding to produce a strong theme analysis that answers the research questions about students' experiences with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring while taking composition courses.

### **Ethical Considerations**

The Belmont principles were created by the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979). The three ethical practices that were relevant to this study and must be followed were respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). The respect for persons principle required the researcher to treat individuals as autonomous human beings. To assure beneficence, the researcher minimized the risks of harm and maximized potential benefits of the research. The justice principle required the researcher to treat all participants fairly and design the research so that equability was shared. The respect for persons allowed participants to have full autonomy, allowing them to make their own decisions while participating in the research. The researcher will obtain documented informed consent from all participants to ensure that participants understood the process of the research and did not negatively influence the participants. The researcher was responsible for explaining the purpose of the research to the participants, expressing all means of confidentiality, securing informed consent prior to data access, and explaining any ethical and legal concepts.

During the data collection process, the researcher will follow the guidelines for the Grand Canyon University checklist to ensure ethical constraints were followed. All approvals, recruitment email, consent forms, and data collection materials mentioned in the Data Collection section are referenced and viewable in the appendices. The researcher will gain IRB approval from Grand Canyon University and from the IRB of the 2-year college prior to conducting the research. The researcher and IRB will review any harm as well as benefits of the research. There is no known risk for participants. The research findings will add value to the literature and the higher education sector. Upon proposal approval, the researcher will get permission from the two-year college and IRB to complete the interviews and focus group with students.

After recruitment, acceptance, and agreement from the participants, the researcher will inform the participants that there is no known potential risks or harm factors related to the study. The researcher will advise the participants that their information will remain anonymous. The researcher will handle information and participant identities in order to maintain confidentiality. The researcher will inform the participants that they may discontinue participation in the research study at any time. If a participant withdraws, the participant's information will be destroyed.

The important principles of the Belmont Report will be upheld in this study. The researcher will provide informed consent. Participants' benefits and risks be evaluated, and participants will be treated with fairness and equity (Anabo et al., 2019). No use of force or harm will be used on vulnerable subjects (Anabo et al., 2019). There may be potential risks for harm to participants as these questions may stimulate feelings of fear or anger. The invitation to participate in this study will establish if a participant has taken a composition course and used the tutoring center, and the interview will allow the researcher to assuage any concerns of the participants. Participation and participant data will be confidential. No research will be completed until IRB permission is granted. As an employee of the campus and my affiliation with the Writing Center could create a conflict of interest, but an ethical desire to contribute to the body of knowledge on student experience with tutoring and the application of growth mindset will guard against ethical issues. The researcher will also use the assistance of the campus Intuitional Research office to ensure an ethical study.

## **Assumptions and Delimitations**

#### Assumptions

In research, assumptions and delimitations are always present. Stahl and King (2020) explained that researcher bias and assumptions are always present in research as are the researchers' values and passion, which must be monitored by the researcher.

Nowell et al. (2017) stated that assumptions of predefined codes may prevent the researcher from seeing other codes, including the veracity and trustworthiness of participants' responses. Vasileiou et al. (2018) found that small sample sizes were seen inadequate and as a limitation.

#### **Delimitations**

The study was delimited to students in college level composition courses who have worked with tutors on college writing assignments. The study will focus on learners who are willing to volunteer for an interview or focus group after fall 2018 when AB 705 was while they are enrolled at a 2-year college in Southern California. The qualitative descriptive design study allows for the participants to use the language they are comfortable with. The data collection methods are delimited to interviews and focus groups, excluding classroom observation. With this focus, the study's conclusions may be transferable to other institutions with similar criteria.

#### Summary

In this section the learner summarized the key points Chapter 3. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a two-year public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course. This chapter discussed the use of interviews and focus groups to the study so that the researcher can work to understand perceptions and motivation during tutoring to complete first year composition course. The methodology and design were discussed as well as the population, sample size, and recruiting plan. The two sources of data were presented, and the trustworthiness of the data was discussed. Data collection, management, and data analysis procedures were presented along with ethical considerations, assumptions, and delimitations of the proposed study.

Chapter 4 will present a summary of the study and a presentation of the results. The qualitative descriptive study will focus on examining the role of non-cognitive skills in the support of academic behavior in students taking a composition course. The chapter will describe how the raw data was prepared for analysis, the data analysis procedures. Chapter 4 will also present the results of the study.

# References

- AB705. (2017). California AB-705 Seymour-Campbell Student Success Act of 2012: matriculation: assessment. https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill\_id=201720180A B705
- AB1187. Assembly Session 2022. (CA. 2022)
- AB1705. Assembly Session 2022. (CA. 2022)
- Abbot, S., Graf, A. J., & Chatfield, B. (2018). Listening to undergraduate peer tutors:
   Roles, relationships, and challenges. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 30(2), 245–261.
- Acosta-Gonzaga, E., & Ramirez-Arellano, A. (2021). The Influence of Motivation,
  Emotions, Cognition, and Metacognition on Students' Learning Performance: A
  Comparative Study in Higher Education in Blended and Traditional Contexts. *SAGE Open*, *11*. <u>https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/21582440211027561</u>
- Aditomo, A. (2015). Students' response to academic setback: "growth mindset" as a buffer against demotivation. *International Journal of Educational Psychology*, 4(2), 198–222.
- Allbright, T., Marsh, J., Kennedy, K., Hough, H., & McKibben, S. (2019). Socialemotional learning practices: insights from outlier schools. *Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching & Learning*, 12(1), 35–52.
- Allensworth, E. M., & Clark, K. (2020). High school GPAs and ACT scores as predictors of college completion: Examining assumptions about consistency across high schools. *Educational Researcher*, 49(3), 198-211.

Altunel, I. (2019). Bridging the gap: A study on the relationship between mindset and foreign language anxiety. *International Online Journal of Education and Teaching*, 6(3), 690–705.

Amin, M. E. K., Norgaard, L. S., Cavaco, A. M., Witry, M. J., Hillman, L., Cernasev, A., & Desselle, S. P. (2020). Establishing trustworthiness and authenticity in qualitative pharmacy research. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, *16*(10), 1472. https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.02.005

- Anabo, I. F., Elexpuru-Albizuri, I., & Villardón-Gallego, L. (2019). Revisiting the Belmont Report's ethical principles in internet-mediated research: perspectives from disciplinary associations in the social sciences. *Ethics & Information Technology*, 21(2), 137–149. https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s10676-018-9495-z
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using
   Zoom Videoconferencing for Qualitative Data Collection: Perceptions and
   Experiences of Researchers and Participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 160940691987459. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Aschenbach, C., Blake, T., Gavaskar, V., Sanchez, R. M., & Whetzel, T. (2022). The Role of Faculty in Tutoring and Learning Centers in the Community College.
  Position Paper. Adopted Fall 2021. *Academic Senate for California Community Colleges*.

Asiamah, N., Mensah, H. K., & Oteng-Abayie, E. F. (2017). General, target, and accessible population: Demystifying the concepts for effective sampling. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(6), 1607+.

Bahr, P. R., Fagioli, L. P., Hetts, J., Hayward, C., Willett, T., Lamoree, D., Newell, M. A., Sorey, K., & Baker, R. B. (2019). Improving Placement Accuracy in California's Community Colleges Using Multiple Measures of High School Achievement. *Community College Review*, 47(2), 178–211. https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/0091552119840705Balilah, M., Babgi, M., Alnemari, W., Binjabi, A., Zaini, R., Abdulkhaliq, A., Monjed, A., Aldahlawi, S., & Almoallim, H. (2020). A proposed framework to develop, describe and evaluate peer-assisted learning programs. *Advances in Medical Education and Practice*, 11, 1005. https://doi-org/10.2147/AMEP.S282582

- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, *84*(2), 191–215.
- Barbouta, A., Barbouta, C., & Kotrotsiou, S. (2020). Growth mindset and grit: How do university students' mindsets and grit affect their academic achievement?
   *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 13(1), 654.
- Barclay, T. H., Barclay, R. D., Mims, A., Sargent, Z., & Robertson, K. (2018). Academic retention: Predictors of college success. *Education*, 139(2), 59–70.

Beltran, E. (2018). Perceptions of Growth Mindset among Latina/o College Students in an HSI Summer STEM Academy (Order No. 10813382). Available from ProQuest One Academic. (2040010076).

https://lopes.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-

theses/perceptions-growth-mindset-among-latina-o-

college/docview/2040010076/se-2

- Boaler, J., Brown, K., LaMar, T., Leshin, M., & Selbach-Allen, M. (2022). Infusing
  Mindset through Mathematical Problem Solving and Collaboration: Studying the
  Impact of a Short College Intervention. *Education Sciences*, *12*(10), 694.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12100694
- Booth, K., Cooper, D., Karandjeff, K., Large, M., Pellegrin, N., Purnell, R., Rodriguez-Kiino, D., Schiorring, E., Willett, T., & Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges (RP Group). (2013). Using Student Voices to Redefine Success: What Community College Students Say Institutions, Instructors and Others Can Do to Help Them Succeed. In *Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges (RP Group)*. Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges (RP Group).
- Bornstein, M. H., Jager, J., & Putnick, D. L. (2013). Sampling in developmental science: Situations, shortcomings, solutions, and standards. *Developmental review*, 33(4), 357-370.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. Sage.
Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2020). One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? Qualitative Research in Psychology, 17(4), 1-25. doi: 10.1080/14780887.2020.1769238

Broda, M., Yun, J., Schneider, B., Yeager, D. S., Walton, G. M., & Diemer, M. (2018).
Reducing inequality in academic success for incoming college students: A randomized trial of growth mindset and belonging interventions. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *11*(3), 317–338.
http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2018.1429037

- Brohawn, K., Newell, M., & Fagioli, L. (2021). Enrollment and Success in TransferLevel English and Math in the California Community Colleges System: Fall 2015
  to Fall 2019 Statewide Analysis. *RP Group*.
- Brown, K. H. (2008). Breaking into the tutor's toolbox: An investigation into strategies used in writing center tutorials. *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. <u>https://doi.org/10.18297/etd/159</u>
- Caelli, K., Ray, L., & Mill, J. (2003). 'Clear as mud': Toward greater clarity in generic qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2(2). Article 1. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/160940690300200201
- California Community Colleges. 2022. "Tech Central." https://ccctechcentral.org/news/12-miscellaneous3/881-common-assessmentinitiative-reset
- CCCSE-Center for Community College Student Engagement. (2019). A Mind at Work: Maximizing the Relationship between Mindset and Student Success. 2019

National Report. In *Center for Community College Student Engagement*. Center for Community College Student Engagement.

*California Community Colleges Student Success and Support Program Handbook.* (2015).

https://www.ohlone.edu/sites/default/files/documents/imported/sssphandbook.pdf

- Capizzi, L. M., Hofstetter, C. H., Mena, D. D., Duckor, B., & Hu, X. (2017). Promoting low-income students' college readiness, well-being, and success: A GEAR UP counseling program study. *Journal of School Counseling*, 15(3), 1–26.
- Chaterdon, K. (2019). Writing into Awareness: How Metacognitive Awareness Can Be Encouraged through Contemplative Teaching Practices. Across the Disciplines, 16(1), 50–65.
- Chun, T. Y., Birks, M., & Francis, K. (2019). Grounded theory research: A design framework for novice researchers. SAGE open medicine, 7, 2050312118822927. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312118822927
- Colorafi, K. J., & Evans, B. (2016). Qualitative descriptive methods in health science research. *HERD*, *9*(4), 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/1937586715614171
- Conley, D. T., & French, E. M. (2014). Student ownership of learning as a key component of college readiness. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 58(8), 1018–1034. doi:10.1177/0002764213515232
- Cook, D. A., & Artino, A. R. (2016). Motivation to learn: an overview of contemporary theories. *Medical education*, 50(10), 997–1014. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13074

- Córdova, J., Ikeda, V., & Ramirez, S. (2010). Practices that promote equity in basic skills in California community colleges. *Basic skills committee*, 2009-2010.
- Costa, A., & Faria, L. (2018). Implicit theories of intelligence and academic achievement:
  A meta-analytic review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, Article
  829. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00829
- Costa, A. L., & Kallick, B. (2015). Five strategies for questioning with intention. *Educational Leadership*, 73(1), 66–69.
- Council of Writing Program Administrators. (2011). Framework for Success in Postsecondary Writing.

https://wpacouncil.org/aws/CWPA/pt/sd/news\_article/242845/\_PARENT/layout\_ details/false

- Crouse, P., Doyle, W., & Young, J. (2011). Workplace learning strategies, barriers, facilitators, and outcomes: a qualitative study among human resource management practitioners. *Human Resource Development International*, 14(1), 39–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2011.542897
- Daniels, J., Bowers, L., Cook, M., D'Antonio, M., Foltz, A., McCombs, C., Sound, J., &
   VanCuren, J. (2019). Improving Completion Rates for Underrepresented
   Populations. *Inquiry*, 22(1)

Destin, M., Hanselman, P., Buontempo, J., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. (2019). Do Student Mindsets Differ by Socioeconomic Status and Explain Disparities in Academic Achievement in the United States? AERA Open. https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/2332858419857706

- Driscoll, D. L., & Perdue, S. W. (2014). RAD Research as a Framework for Writing Center Inquiry: Survey and Interview Data on Writing Center Administrators' Beliefs about Research and Research Practices. *The Writing Center Journal*, *34*(1), 105–133. https://doi.org/10.7771/2832-9414.1787
- Driscoll, D. L., & Wells, J. (2012). Beyond Knowledge and Skills: Writing Transfer and the Role of Student Dispositions. In *Composition Forum* (Vol. 26). Association of Teachers of Advanced Composition.

https://compositionforum.com/issue/26/beyond-knowledge-skills.php

- Driscoll, D. L., & Zhang, J. (2022). Mapping Long-Term Writing Experiences:
  Operationalizing the Writing Development Model for the Study of Persons,
  Processes, Contexts, and Time. *Composition Forum*, 48, N.PAG.
- Driscoll, D. L., Gorzelsky, G., Wells, J., Hayes, C., Jones, E., & Salchak, S. (2017).Down the Rabbit Hole: Challenges and Methodological Recommendations in Researching Writing-Related Student Dispositions. *Composition Forum*, 35, 1.
- Driscoll, D. L., Paszek, J., Gorzelsky, G., Hayes, C. L., & Jones, E. (2020). Genre
  Knowledge and Writing Development: Results From the Writing Transfer Project. *Written Communication*, 37(1), 69–103. https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/0741088319882313
- Duran, A., Dahl, L. S., Stipeck, C., & Mayhew, M. J. (2020). A Critical Quantitative Analysis of Students' Sense of Belonging: Perspectives on Race, Generation Status, and Collegiate Environments. *Journal of College Student Development*, 61(2), 133–153.

- Dweck, C. S. (1999). Self-theories: Their role in motivation, personality, and *development*. Psychology Press.
- Dweck, C. (2008). Brainology. National Association of Independent Schools. https://www.nais.org/magazine/independent-school/winter-2008/brainology/

Dweck, C. (2009a). *Mindset: The New Psychology of Success*. Ballantine Books.

- Dweck, C. (2009). Mindsets: Developing Talent through a Growth Mindset. Olympic Coach, 21, 4.
- Dweck, C. S. (2012). Mindsets and human nature: Promoting change in the Middle East, the schoolyard, the racial divide, and willpower. *American Psychologist*, 67(8), 614–622. https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1037/a0029783
- Dweck, C. S., & Leggett, E. L. (1988). A Social-Cognitive Approach to Motivation and Personality. *Psychological Review*, 95(2), 256–273.

Dweck, C. S., & Yeager, D. S. (2019). Mindsets: A view from two eras. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *14*(3), 481–496.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691618804166

- Ellingson, C., & Dubinsky, J. M. (2020). Altered Reality: An inquiry-based neuroscience lesson for helping students understand neuroplasticity and its role in learning. *The Science Teacher*, *87*(9), 49–53. Giraldo-García, R. J., & Magiste, E. J. (2018).
  Exploring the Impact of Structured Learning Assistance (SLA) on College Writing. *College Quarterly*, *21*(1).
- Farruggia, S. P., Han, C., Watson, L., Moss, T. P., & Bottoms, B. L. (2018).
  Noncognitive Factors and College Student Success. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 20(3), 308–327.

Giorgi, A. (2012). The descriptive phenomenological psychological method. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 43(1).

Giraldo-García, R. J., & Magiste, E. J. (2018). Exploring the Impact of Structured Learning Assistance (SLA) on College Writing. *College Quarterly*, 21(1), n1.

Guetterman, T. (2015). Descriptions of sampling practices within five approaches to qualitative research in education and the health sciences. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *16*(2).

Hammond, Z. (2015). Culturally Responsive Teaching and the Brain. Corwin.

Hammond, Z. (2020). Looking at SoLD through an equity lens: Will the science of learning and development be used to advance critical pedagogy or will it be used to maintain inequity by design?, *Applied Developmental Science, 24*, 151-158, DOI: 10.1080/10888691.2019.1609733

Hattie, J. (2011). Visible learning for teachers. Routledge.

https://doi.org/10.1163/156916212X632934

Hecht, C. A., Latham, A. G., Buskirk, R. E., Hansen, D. R., & Yeager, D. S. (2022).
Peer-Modeled Mindsets: An Approach to Customizing Life Sciences Studying Interventions. *CBE Life Sciences Education*, 21(4), ar82. https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1187/cbe.22-07-0143

Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591–608. https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/1049732316665344

- Hern, K. (2019). Getting There II: A Statewide Progress Report on Implementation of AB 705. Are California Community Colleges Maximizing Student Completion of Transfer-Level Math and English?. *Campaign for College Opportunity*.
- Hochbein, C., & Smeaton, K. S. (2018). An exploratory analysis of the prevalence of quantitative research methodologies in journal articles. *International Journal of Education Policy & Leadership*, 13(11), 1–17. https://doiorg/10.22230/ijepl.2018v13n11a76
- Hoyert, M. S., Ballard, K., & O'Dell, C. D. (2019). Increasing student success through a cocktail of cognitive interventions. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching & Learning*, 19, 128–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2017.1404560
- Illowsky, B. (2008). The California basic skills initiative. New Directions for Community Colleges, 2008: 83-91. https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.348
- Inzlicht, M., Shenhav, A., & Olivola, C. Y. (2018). The Effort Paradox: Effort Is Both Costly and Valued. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 22(4), 337–349. https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/j.tics.2018.01.007
- Jackson, J., Cook, K., & Johnson, H. (2019). Improving College Completion. *Public Policy Institute of California*.
- Jenkins, D. (2015). Community College Research Center: Collaborative research to improve student success. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 39(10), 933–937.

http://dx.doi.org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/10668926.2015.1033780

Juszkiewicz, J. (2020, July). Trends in Community College Enrollment and Completion Data, Issue 6.Washington, DC: American Association of Community Colleges. Kegler, M. C., Raskind, I. G., Comeau, D. L., Griffith, D. M., Cooper, H. L. F., & Shelton, R. C. (2019). Study Design and Use of Inquiry Frameworks in Qualitative Research Published in Health Education & Behavior. *Health Education & Behavior*, 46(1), 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198118795018

Kannangara, C. S., Allen, R.E., Waugh, G., Nahar, N., Zahraa, S., Khan, N., Rogerson, S., & Carson, J. (2018). All that glitters is not grit: Three studies of grit in university students. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01539

Karlen, Y., Suter, F., Hirt, C., & Merki, K. M. (2019). The role of implicit theories in students' grit, achievement goals, intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, and achievement in the context of a long-term challenging task. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2019.101757

Kearney, C., Sanmartín, R., & Gonzálvez, C. (2020). The school climate and academic mindset inventory (SCAMI): confirmatory factor analysis and invariance across demographic groups. Frontiers in Psychology, 11, 2061.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02061

Keerthirathne, W. K. D. (2020). Peer Learning: an Overview. *International Journal of Scientific Engineering and Science*, 4(11), 1-6.

Khan, R. N., & Watson, R. (2018). The flipped classroom with tutor support: an experience in a level one statistics unit. *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice*, 15(3), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/10691898.2020.1834475

Lambert, V. A., & Lambert, C. E. (2012). Qualitative descriptive research: An acceptable design. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, *16*(4),255–256.

- Leung, K. C. (2019). An updated meta-analysis on the effect of peer tutoring on tutors' achievement. *School Psychology International*, 40(2), 200–214. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034318808832
- Lewis, P. J., & Adeney, R. (2014). Narrative research. *Qualitative methodology: A practical guide*, 161-179. http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781473920163.n10
- Liggett, S., Jordan, K., & Price, S. (2011). Mapping Knowledge-Making in Writing Center Research: A Taxonomy of Methodologies. *Writing Center Journal*, 31(2), 50–88.
- Limeri, L. B., Carter, N. T., Choe, J., Harper, H. G., Martin, H. R., Benton, A., & Dolan,
  E. L. (2020). Growing a growth mindset: characterizing how and why
  undergraduate students' mindsets change. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 7(1). https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1186/s40594-020-00227-2
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. Sage Publications.
- Magilvy, J. K., & Thomas, E. (2009). A first qualitative project: qualitative descriptive design for novice researchers. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing : JSPN*, 14(4), 298–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2009.00212.x
- Mau, S. T. & Harkness, S.S. (2020) The role of teacher educators and university supervisors to help student teachers reflect: from monological reflection toward dialogical conversation, *Reflective Practice*, 21:2, 171-182, DOI: 10.1080/14623943.2020.1716710
- Melguizo, T., Witham, K., Fong, K., & Chi, W. E. (2017). Understanding the relationship between equity and efficiency: Towards a concept of funding adequacy for community colleges. Journal of Education Finance, 43(2).

- Mejia, M. C., Rodriguez, O., Johnson, H., & Perez, C. A. (2020). Community College English in California's New Era of Student Access. *Public Policy Institute of California*. https://www.ppic.org/publication/community-college-english-incalifornias-new-era-of-studentaccess/#:~:text=Successful%20Completion%20Rates%20Changed%20Slightly,fo r%20the%20fall%202019%20cohort
- Miller, L. K. (2020). Can We Change Their Minds? Investigating an Embedded Tutor's Influence on Students' Mindsets and Writing. *The Writing Center Journal*, 38(1/2), 103-130.
- Mosanya, M. (2020). Buffering academic stress during the COVID-19 pandemic related social isolation: Grit and growth mindset as protective factors against the impact of loneliness. *Int J Appl Posit Psychol*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41042-020-00043-7
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-andpolicy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- Nelson, K., Quinn, C., Marrington, A., & Clarke, J. (2012). Good practice for enhancing the engagement and success of commencing students. *Higher Education* (00181560), 63(1), 83–96. https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s10734-011-9426-y

- Nilmanat, K., & Kurniawan, T. (2020). The quest in case study research. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, 25(1), 1-6.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic Analysis: Striving to Meet the Trustworthiness Criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1). https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Ochieng, N. T., Wilson, K., Derrick, C. J., & Mukherjee, N. (2018). The use of focus group discussion methodology: Insights from two decades of application in conservation. *Methods in Ecology and evolution*, 9(1), 20-32.
- Ortagus, J. C., Kelchen, R., Rosinger, K., & Voorhees, N. (2020). Performance-Based Funding in American Higher Education: A Systematic Synthesis of the Intended and Unintended Consequences. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 42(4), 520–550. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373720953128
- Owens, M. T., & Tanner, K. D. (2017). Teaching as Brain Changing: Exploring Connections between Neuroscience and Innovative Teaching. *CBE Life Sciences Education*, 16(2). https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1187/cbe.17-01-0005
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis in Mixed Method Implementation Research. *Administration and policy in mental health*, 42(5), 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pavlenko, A. (2002), Narrative study: Whose story is it, anyway? *TESOL Quarterly*, *36*(2), 213-218. https://doi.org/10.2307/3588332
- Payne, S. L., Kleine, K. L., Purcell, J., & Carter, G. R. (2005). Evaluating academic challenge beyond the NSSE. *Innovative Higher Education*, 30(2), 129-146.

Pellegrino, J. W., & Chudowsky, N. (2003). The Foundations of Assessment. *Measurement*, 1(2), 103–148. https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1207/S15366359MEA0102\_01

Penrod, J., Preston, D. B., Cain, R. E., & Starks, M. T. (2003). A discussion of chain referral as a method of sampling hard-to-reach populations. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 14(2), 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659602250614

- Perin, D. (2013). Literacy Skills Among Academically Underprepared Students. Community College Review, 41(2), 118-136. httpsA://doiorg.proxymc.vcccd.edu/ 10.1177/0091552113484057
- Perin, D., Lauterbach, M., Raufman, J., & Kalamkarian, H. (2017). Text-based writing of low-skilled postsecondary students: relation to comprehension, self-efficacy, and teacher judgments. *Reading & Writing*, 30(4), 887–915. https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s11145-016-9706-0

Perkins, D., Tishman, S., Ritchhart, R., Donis, K., & Andrade, A. (2000). Intelligence in the Wild: A Dispositional View of Intellectual Traits. *Educational Psychology Review*, 12(3), 269–293. https://doi-

org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1023/A:1009031605464

Perry, J., Lundie, D., & Golder, G. (2019). Metacognition in schools: what does the literature suggest about the effectiveness of teaching metacognition in schools? *Educational Review*, 71(4), 483-500.

- Petjärva, B., Aus, K., & Arro, G. (2019). More efficient engineering education through supporting implicit ability beliefs. *Estonian Journal of Education / Eesti Haridusteaduste Ajakiri*, 7(2), 96–99.
- Philippakos, Z. A. T. (2020). Developing Strategic Learners: Supporting Self-Efficacy through Goal Setting and Reflection. *Language and Literacy Spectrum*, *30*(1), n1.

Philippakos, Z. A. T., Wang, C., & MacArthur, C. (2021). Writing Motivation of College Students in Basic Writing and First-Year Composition Classes: Confirmatory
Factor Analysis of Scales on Goals, Self-Efficacy, Beliefs, and Affect. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*. https://doi-

org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/00222194211053238

- Plaskett, S., Bali, D., Nakkula, M. J., & Harris, J. (2018). Peer mentoring to support firstgeneration low-income college students. *Phi Delta Kappan, 99(7)*, 47–51.
- PPIC. (2019, October). Improving College Completion. Public Policy Institute of California, Higher Education Center. https://www.ppic.org/wpcontent/uploads/higher-education-in-california-improving-college-completionoctober-2019.pdf.
- Rattan, A., Savani, K., Chugh, D., & Dweck, C. S. (2015). Leveraging mindsets to promote academic achievement: Policy recommendations. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*. 10(6), 721-726. doi: 10.1177/1745691615599383
- Rissanen, I., Kuusisto, E., Tuominen, M., & Tirri, K. (2019). In search of a growth mindset pedagogy: A case study of one teacher's classroom practices in a Finnish elementary school. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 77, 204–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.10.002

- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Focus on research methods: Whatever happened to qualitative description? Research in Nursing & Health, 23, 334–340.
- Sandelowski, M. (2010). What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. *Research in nursing & health*, *33*(1), 77-84.
- Sarrasin, J. B., Nenciovici, L., Foisy, L.-M. B., Allaire-Duquette, G., Riopel, M., & Masson, S. (2018). Effects of teaching the concept of neuroplasticity to induce a growth mindset on motivation, achievement, and brain activity: A meta-analysis. Trends in Neuroscience and Education, 12, 22–31.
- Schubert, L. K. (2017). Exploring the connections between students' mindsets and their writing: An intervention study with a course-embedded writing tutor. Available from ProQuest One Academic. (1972023402).

https://lopes.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-

theses/exploring-connections-between-students-

mindsets/docview/1972023402/se-2?accountid=7374

- Seymour-Campbell Student Success Act of 2012, Assembly Bill 705. (2017). https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill\_id=201720180A B705
- Shaw, L. A., Rice, S., & Wada, K. (2018). AB 705: Where We've Been, and Where We're Headed. *CATESOL Journal*, 30(2), 77–84.

Shapiro, D., Dundar, A., Huie, F., Wakhungu, P. K., Yuan, X., Nathan, A., & Hwang, Y.
(2017). Tracking Transfer: Measures of Effectiveness in Helping Community
College Students to Complete Bachelor's Degrees. (Signature Report No.

13). National Student Clearinghouse.

- Sheffler, P. C., & Cheung, C. S. (2020). The role of peer mindsets in students' learning: An experimental study. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(S1), 17. https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1111/bjep.12299
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations and scope of the study dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success. *Seattle, WA: Dissertation Success LLC*.
- Sisk, V. F., Burgoyne, A. P., Sun, J., Butler, J. L., & McNamara, B. N. (2018). To what extent and under which circumstances are growth mind-sets important to academic achievement? Two meta-analyses. *Psychological Science*, 29(4), 549-571. https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/0956797617739704
- Sofaer, S. (1999). Qualitative methods: What are they and why use them? *Health Services Research*, *5*.
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26-28.
- Steyn, G. M., & Van Tonder, S. (2017). Exploring Learning Experiences of Female Adults in Higher Education Using a Hybrid Study Approach: A Case Study. *Gender & Behaviour*, 15(1), 8135–8159.
- Student Success Act of 2012 https://www.foothill.edu/3sp/SSTF\_Final\_Report\_1-17-12.pdf
- Thomas, D. R. (2006). A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *27*(2), 237–246.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214005283748

- Tight, M. (2020). Student retention and engagement in higher education. *Journal of further and Higher Education*, 44(5), 689-704.
- Tinto, V. (2006). Research and Practice of Student Retention: What Next? Journal of College Student Retention 8 (1): 1–19. doi:10.2190/4YNU-4TMB-22DJ-AN4W.
- Tinto, V. (2012). Completing College: Rethinking Institutional Action. University of Chicago Press.
- Topping, K. J. (2005). Trends in peer learning. *Educational Psychology*, *25*(6), 631–645. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410500345172

Topping, K., & Ehly, S. (1998). Peer-assisted learning. Routledge.

- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Verbeem, J., & Harper, L. (2019). Embedding Information Literacy Support in a Peer Learning Program: An Exploratory Case Study. *Collaborative Librarianship*, 11(4), 251–261.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1980). Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes. Harvard University Press.
- What is Assessment? (2018). Assessment and Placement. California Community College. https://assessment.cccco.edu/what-is-assessment
- White, M., Morris, T., Newell, M., Hayward, C., & RP Group. (2021). A Qualitative Exploration of AB 705 Implementation: Report of Statewide Interview Results.In *RP Group*. RP Group.

- Wolter, D. (2016). The Opportunity Gap in Literacy. *Educational Leadership*, 74(3), 30–33.
- Wilson, W. L., & Arendale, D. R. (2011). Peer educators in learning assistance programs: Best practices for new programs. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2011(133), 41–53. https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1002/ss.383
- Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2020). What can be learned from growth mindset controversies? *American psychologist*, 75(9), 1269.
- Yeager, D. S., Hanselman, P., Walton, G. M., Murray, J. S., Crosnoe, R., Muller, C., & Tipton, E. (2019). A national experiment reveals where a growth mindset improves achievement. *Nature*, 573(7774), 364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1466-y
- Yeager, D. S., Romero, C., Paunesku, D., Hulleman, C. S., Schneider, B., Hinojosa, C., Lee, H. Y., O'Brien, J., Flint, K., Roberts, A., Trott, J., Greene, D., Walton, G.
  M., & Dweck, C. S. (2016). Using design thinking to improve psychological interventions: The case of the growth mindset during the transition to high school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *108*(3), 374–391. https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1037/edu0000098
- Yılmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48, 311-325. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12014
- Zander, L., Brouwer, J., Jansen, E., Crayen, C., & Hannover, B. (2018). Academic selfefficacy, growth mindsets, and university students' integration in academic and

social support networks. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 62, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2018.01.012

## Appendix A.

## **Ten Strategic Points**

**This is a required appendix.** The Ten Strategic Points should be moved from the Preliminary Page at beginning of the Dissertation Template to this Appendix A in the final dissertation manuscript before moving into Level 7 Form and Formatting.

#### Appendix B.

#### **Site Authorization**



March 2023-March 2024 Office of Academic Research Grand Canyon University College of Doctoral Studies 3300 W. Camelback Road Phoenix, AZ 85017 Phone: 602-639-7804

Dear IRB Members,

After reviewing the proposed study, "How Students Describe Peer-Modeled Growth Mindset Tutoring at a Community College", presented by Elizabeth Gillis-Smith. I have granted authorization for Elizabeth Gillis-Smith to conduct research at the Moorpark College Writing Center.

I understand the purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore how students at a twoyear public institution of higher education in Southern California, who do not have the option to take developmental courses, describe the role of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting their completion of a composition course.

I have indicated to Elizabeth Gillis-Smith that Moorpark College will allow the following research activities: Work with Writing Center faculty and staff to collect student emails to invite students who have used tutoring for interviews and focus groups. Work with dean, department chair, and faculty from the English Department to request that they invite students to participate in interviews and focus groups. Other research activities will include 1:1 interviews with students on campus or via zoom as well as the use of small group study rooms or Zoom for one or two focus group meetings.

The participants that will be in this study must meet the following criteria:

- 18 years old or older
- full-time or part-time student
- enrolled in a composition course any time since fall 2018
- available for an interview or focus group

To ensure that the Moorpark College students are protected, Elizabeth Gillis-Smith, has agreed to provide to me a copy of Grand Canyon University IRB-approved informed consent document, and recruitment information, before she *recruits* participants at Moorpark College. I understand that the name of Moorpark College will not be used in any publications or presentations and that Elizabeth Gillis-Smith will protect data to the best of her ability. Elizabeth Gillis-Smith has agreed to provide a copy of the study results, in aggregate, to Moorpark College.

If the IRB has any concerns about the permission being granted by this letter, please contact me by contacting Andrew LaFave at alafave@vcccd.edu.

Andrew LaFave, Research Analyst

Andrew LaFave

**Printed Name** 

Andrew LaFave 3/20/23

Signature Date

#### Appendix C.

## **IRB** Approval Letter

- **This is a required appendix**. The IRB approval letter is required for Level 5 Review and published in the final dissertation manuscript.
- When you receive IRB approval for your study, you will receive a determination (or approval) letter to move forward with data collection.
- Download (from iRIS) then copy/paste a copy of the determination (approval) letter you received from the IRB in this appendix prior to submitting for Level 5 peer review. *This letter must be the actual copy issued from IRB, not something the learner types up themselves.*

## Appendix D.

## **Informed Consent**

I will be using the No More Than Minimal Risk Template

# Introduction

The title of this research study is "How Students Describe Peer-Modeled Growth Mindset Tutoring at a Community College."

I am Beth Gillis-Smith, a doctoral student under the supervision of Dr. John Harrison in the College of Doctoral Studies at Grand Canyon University.

The purpose of this study is to describe how first-year students perceive academic and motivational support in order to improve student success using peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring. Adult learners attending community colleges must enroll in college-level courses right away because law has stopped most pre-transfer courses. If they lack the help they require, students may find it difficult to complete.

## **Key Information**

This document defines the terms and conditions for consenting to participate in this research study.

## How do I know if I can be in this study?

- You can participate in this study if you:
  - are 18 years old or older
  - o are a full-time or part-time student at Moorpark College
  - o are enrolled in a composition course any time since fall 2018
  - have worked with a tutor at the Writing Center
  - You cannot participate in this study if you:
    - o are not a student at Moorpark College
    - have not enrolled in a composition course since fall 2018
    - o are younger than 18 years
    - 0

## <u>Research Activities: What am I being asked to do?</u>

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

• <u>What?</u>

Join in an individual, one-on-one interview (approximately 45 minutes) or in a focus group (approximately 60 minutes) with 3-5 other people. All will be also be asked to answer five questions about ethnicity, gender, year/semester in school, student status.

## • <u>When?</u>

We will meet on any agreed upon day and time. The interview or focus group will meet on campus or using Zoom.

• *How?* 

We will meet at an office on campus or via Zoom, and the interview or focus group will be recorded using Zoom or a recording device. Written copies of the recording will be created and downloaded using Zoom.

#### • Audio Recording:

I will use an audio recorder or the audio recording feature of Zoom to record the interview. If you do not want to be recorded, you cannot participate. To protect identity, all names will be replaced with numbers. Audio recordings will be password-protected and saved to a computer.

Privacy policy for Zoom.

#### <u>Video Recording</u>

I will use Zoom to record your actions. Because this recording will show who you are, these extra steps will be taken: to protect identity, all names will be turned to numbers. Video recordings will be password-protected and saved to a computer. You can still join the study if your camera is off while we record the audio via Zoom. Privacy policy for Zoom.

#### Who will have access to my data/information?

I will have access to all of your data. In addition, my dissertation chair, committee members, and all College of Doctoral Studies Reviewers may view the data as part of the dissertation review process.

#### Am I required to participate in this study?

Joining this study is voluntary. After reading this, you can decide whether to join this study or not. Also, if you choose to join and then change your mind, you can leave the study any time, even if you have not finished, without any problem to which you are otherwise entitled. If you decide to stop, you may do so by telling me that you would like to stop. If so, I will not use the data that I collected from you before you chose to stop.

#### Any possible risks or discomforts?

There are no foreseeable risks or discomforts associated with this study.

#### Any direct benefits for me?

No

#### Any paid compensation or incentives for my time?

You will receive a \$10 Starbucks gift card. After the interview or focus group, I will ask for an email address to send an electronic gift card.

## **Presentation of Information Collected**

The research data will be presented in several ways. It will be published in a dissertation. The data may also be used for future research studies, conference presentations, or journal publications.

# **Privacy and Data Security**

*Will other researchers ever be able to link my data/responses back to me?* No.

*Will my initial data include information that can identify me (names, addresses, or other identifying material, such as audio, specific demographics, etc.)* No one will have data that can that can identify you.

*Will researchers assign my data/responses a research ID code to use instead of my name?* 

Yes.

*If yes, how will researchers create a list to link names with their research ID codes?* An ID research code list will be created.

# *If yes, how will researchers secure the link of names and research ID codes? How long will the link be kept? Who has access? What is the approximate destruction date?*

The ID code list will be saved on a computer until the study in completed. The list will then be removed from the computer, put on a storage device, and destroyed on approximately 08-01-2027. I am the only person who will have access.

## How and where will my data be protected (electronic and hardcopy)?

The Zoom recordings will be saved on a stick drive that is kept in a locked safe. Paper transcripts will be kept in a locked safe. Other electronic data will saved on my password-protected computer.

## How long will the data be kept in the protected space?

The data will be kept for three years following the conclusion of the study.

## Who will have access to the protected data?

I will have access to all of your data. In addition, my dissertation chair, committee members, and all College of Doctoral Studies Reviewers may view your information and your answers as part of the dissertation review process.

What is the privacy policy for survey platforms (Survey Monkey, Qualtrics, mTurks, Google, etc), any recording software (Zoom, Microsoft Teams, etc.), interview software, survey software, or transcription software companies? https://explore.zoom.us/en/privacy/

## Where and how will the signed informed consent forms be secured?

The signed informed consent forms will be secured on saved on a computer until the study is completed. They will then be removed from the computer, put on a storage device, and destroyed after three years on approximately 08-01-2027. I am the only person who will have access.

## For California Residents ONLY

For the state of California, participants have additional rights through the State: The right to know about the personal information a business collects about them and how it is used and shared; The right to delete personal information collected from them (with some exceptions); The right to opt-out of the sale of their personal information; and The right to non-discrimination for exercising their CCPA rights. For more information, click on the link below:

California Consumer Privacy Act: https://www.oag.ca.gov/privacy/ccpa

# **Future Research**

Once identifiers, such as names, are removed from the data collected for this study, the de-identified data could be used for future studies or shared with others for future studies without additional informed consent from you or a legally authorized representative.

# **Study Contacts**

Any questions you have concerning the research study or your participation in the study, before or after your informed consent, will be answered by Elizabeth Gillis-Smith, <u>egillissmi@my.gcu.edu</u>; 805-558-0562.

If you have questions about your rights as a subject/participant in this research, or if you feel you have been placed at risk, you can contact the Chair of the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board through the College of Doctoral Studies at <u>IRB@gcu.edu</u>; (602) 639-7804.

# Voluntary Consent

## Participant Rights

- You have been given an opportunity to read and discuss the informed consent and ask questions about this study;
- You have been given enough time to consider whether or not you want to participate;
- You have read and understand the terms and conditions and agree to take part in this research study;
- You understand your participation is voluntary and that you may stop participation at any time without penalty.

Your signature means that you understand your rights listed above and agree to participate in this study.

# Signature of Participant or Legally Authorized Representative Date

• The IRB approved (stamped) informed consent document is required for Level 5 Review and published in the final dissertation manuscript.

#### Appendix E.

#### **Expert Panel Review**

Expert Panel was up of three experts: Reviewer A is a PhD in English who has worked as faculty coordinator of a writing center for 9 years and has been a faculty member at a community college for over 25 years. Review B is a PhD in English who is department chair and also involved in the implementation of AB 705 at the college. She has been a faculty member at a community college for over 30 years. Reviewer C holds an EdD in Educational Leadership and Change, with over 15 years' experience as a community college counselor and EOPS/CARE/CalWORKS coordinator.

All experts will be asked to respond to the following survey after reviewing the questions:

Please answer "Yes" or "No" to each question. Please leave any feedback at the bottom and sign your name with credentials and date the form.

- 1. Are the questions clear and concise?
- 2. Are they written in a way that most first-year college students will understand them?
- 3. Do they appear to be unbiased?
- 4. Do they have the potential to address the purpose of the study?
- 5. Do they appear to pose any threat or harm?
- 6. Any other comments?

Responses:

Expert #1:

Please answer "Yes" or "No" to each question. Please leave any feedback at the bottom and sign your name with credentials and date the form.

 Are the questions clear and concise? Yes, but 3 & 4 are similar; you could change it to: In what way... Change questions: How do you experience growth/progress?, How much

time and effort?

- 2. Are they written in a way that most first-year college students will understand them? Yes
- 3. Do they appear to be unbiased? Yes
- 4. Do they have the potential to address the purpose of the study? Add mindset questions earlier in interview
- 5. Do they appear to pose any threat or harm? No
- 6. Any other comments?

Will you add demographic questions to see how disproportionately impacted students respond?

Add the phrase: To what extent

Add a question: Did working with a tutor change your perspective on .... I would suggest working in some statements about mindset: Do you think people can improve their writing? Do you think you are born with certain abilities and there's not much you can do to improve? How do you think mindset affects your writing?

#### Expert #2:

Please answer "Yes" or "No" to each question of the five questions below. Feel free to leave any additional feedback at the bottom. Then, sign your name with credentials and date the form.

- 1. Are the questions clear and concise? Yes
- 2. Are they written in a way that most first-year college students will understand them? Yes
- 3. Do they appear to be unbiased? Yes (mostly)
- 4. Do they have the potential to address the purpose of the study? Yes
- 5. Do they appear to pose any threat or harm? No
- 6. Any other comments? See below in blue

#### **Interview Questions:**

1. To what extent do you think people can improve their writing ability? (Do you mean, do what extent do you think this, or to what extent can people

## improve?)

- 2. What do you think is more important when it comes to writing success: effort or talent?
  - a. Why do you think [effort or talent] is more important?
- 3. How do you think people become good writers? What does it take to become a better writer?
- 4. How can students become better writers?
- 5. How did you experience growth in your writing this semester? (Is this a leading question?--should you assume they *have* experienced growth?)
- 6. How confident were you in your writing ability before taking college composition?
- 7. How satisfied are you with your writing assignments when you turn them in for a grade?
- 8. How much effort do you put into your writing assignments? (Will you give them a way to measure this effort? time on task? working with a tutor?)
- 9. What steps do you take to complete a writing assignment?
- 10. How do you think your mindset affects your writing ability and your writing process? (If they already know what "mindset" means, they'll already have formed an opinion, right?)
- 11. Describe your experience with a writing tutor.
- 12. Did the tutor motivate you to put more effort into the writing process?
- 13. Did the tutor change the way you thought about your ability?

## Focus Group Questions (I like these questions!)

- 1. What role does the peer tutor play in motivating you to complete a writing assignment? (peer support)
- 2. What makes you stop or slows you down as you write? (facing challenge)
- 3. What happens when you feel like you don't understand what to do during the completion of a writing assignment? (facing challenge)
- 4. How does the tutoring session help you start or continue when you feel stuck during the writing process? (feeling unprepared)
- 5. What did your tutor do to help you feel like it was the worth the effort to keep writing and finish the assignment? (motivation) (assuming they did anything at all)

#### Expert #3:

- 1. Are the questions clear and concise? yes, although #3 and 4 are sort of the same question and might be combined, unless I'm missing something about the questions.
- 2. Are they written in a way that most first-year college students will understand them? Yes
- 3. Do they appear to be unbiased? yes
- 4. Do they have the potential to address the purpose of the study? yes
- 5. Do they appear to pose any threat or harm? No
- 6. Any other comments?

#### Appendix F.

#### **Interview Protocol**

Participant pre-interview questions to confirm that they are over 18, in a

composition class, and have met with a tutor. Other questions provide helpful information

about their status at the community college.

- 1. Are you 18 years old or older?
- 2. Are you a full-time or part-time student?
- 3. What year in school are you?
- 4. Were you in enrolled in a composition course any time since fall 2018?
- 5. What is your major/area of study?
- 6. What tutoring did you use?
  - a) Composition Course coach?
  - b) Drop-in writing tutoring?
  - c) Appointment based writing tutoring?

The researcher will start the interview or the Zoom session.

1. Script: Thank you for your time; I know you are busy with school, work, and family. I appreciate your time. Before I begin the interview, I would like to review the informed consent I emailed you. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore the perception of academic and motivational support among first year students through the lens of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in order to strengthen student success. Eligibility to participate in the study is based on whether or not you are currently enrolled or have been enrolled in the school's first-year composition course. Once I have your emailed signed informed consent, we can continue. As a reminder, you do not have to answer any question you do not want to answer, and you are welcome to withdraw from the study at any time; participation is totally voluntary. This interview will be recorded so I can refer to it later; it will also allow me to focus and engage with you rather than just taking notes. Today's interview will focus on your experience with tutoring while you were taking your first-year composition class. There are 14 questions. I may ask additional follow up questions, or I may skip some if you answer it in response to another question. Anything you share during this interview is confidential. Your identity will not be on anything other than the signature on your informed consent. Your instructor will not have access to anything you say, nor will they know you participated in this study. In fact, no one at the school will have access to any of this or know you participated. The interview and its transcript will be saved on my private computer and will be password protected. Any hardcopy notes will be kept in a locked desk drawer in a private office. Do you have any questions or concerns before we begin? I can repeat questions; I can also give you time to think about the questions.

#### Interview Questions:

Note: The framework element referred to is indicated in parentheses following the question.

- 1. Tell me if you agree or disagree with these statements and why: (growth and fixed mindset)
- Good writers are born, not made.
- Hard work, desire, dedication, and enough time are all I need to become a good writer.
- You have a certain amount of writing ability, and you can't really do much to change it.

- I believe I was born with the ability to write well.
- My essays will always have the same quality, no matter how much I try to change them.
- No matter how hard I try, I will never be a great writer.
- No matter who you are, you can significantly change your writing ability.
- 2. Was tutoring required? (motivation to go to tutoring)
- 3. Was tutoring recommended by fellow students? (motivation to go to tutoring)
- 4. Did you see a tutor due to a challenging assignment? (response to challenge)
- 5. When in the semester did you see a tutor for the first time? (motivation to go to tutoring)
- 6. Describe the assignment(s) you worked on with the tutor. (challenge)
- 7. What was hard? (fixed or growth perspective)
- 8. What was easy? (fixed or growth perspective)
- 9. Describe the experience working with that assignment with the tutor. (challenge)
- 10. How much effort do you put into your writing assignments? (effort)
- 11. Did this change after working with a tutor? (effort)
- How do you think your mindset affects your writing ability and your writing process? (fixed or growth mindset)
- 13. Did the tutor motivate you to put more effort into the writing process? (effort)
- 14. Did they change the way you thought about your ability? (fixed or growth mindset)
- 15. Is there a time during the semester when you thought about dropping the class? (response to challenge)
- 16. What assignments were more challenging than others? (challenge)

- 17. Did you see a tutor before or after this time? (reason for using tutor)
- 18. What else did you learn from the tutor? (open-ended question)
- 19. Did you try any new habits or techniques after working with the tutor? (influence of tutor)
- 20. What do you think is more important when it comes to writing success: effort or talent? (fixed or growth mindset)
- 21. Why do you think [effort or talent] is more important? (fixed or growth mindset)
- 22. How did you experience growth in your writing? (fixed or growth mindset)
- 23. How confident were you in your writing ability before taking college composition? (fixed or growth mindset)
- 24. Did this change after working with a tutor? (fixed or growth mindset)
#### Appendix G.

#### **Focus Group Protocol**

Script: Thank you for your time; I know you are busy with school, work, and family. I appreciate your time. Before I begin the focus group, I would like to review the informed consent I emailed you. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore the perception of academic and motivational support among first year students through the lens of peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in order to strengthen student success. Eligibility to participate in the study is based on whether or not you are currently enrolled or have been enrolled in the school's first-year composition course. Once I have your emailed signed informed consent, we can continue. As a reminder, you do not have to answer any question you do not want to answer, and you are welcome to withdraw from the study at any time; participation is totally voluntary. This interview will be recorded so I can refer to it later; it will also allow me to focus and engage with you rather than just taking notes. Today's focus group will focus on your experiences with tutoring while you were taking your first-year composition class. There are 6 questions. I may ask additional follow up questions, or I may skip some if you answer it in response to another question. Anything you share during this interview is confidential. Your identity will not be on anything other than the signature on your informed consent. Your instructor will not have access to anything you say, nor will they know you participated in this study. In fact, no one at the school, except for others in the focus group, will have access to any of this or know you participated. The focus group and its transcript will be saved on my private computer and will be password protected. Any hardcopy notes will be kept in a locked

desk drawer in a private office. Do you have any questions or concerns before we begin?

I can repeat questions; I can also give you time to think about the questions.

Focus Group Questions:

Note: The framework element referred to is indicated in parentheses following the question)

- 1. Tell me if you agree or disagree with these statements and why: (growth and fixed mindset)
- Good writers are born, not made.
- Hard work, desire, dedication, and enough time are all I need to become a good writer.
- You have a certain amount of writing ability, and you can't really do much to change it.
- I believe I was born with the ability to write well.
- My essays will always have the same quality, no matter how much I try to change them.
- No matter how hard I try, I will never be a great writer.
- No matter who you are, you can significantly change your writing ability.
- 2. What time of the semester did you work with a tutor?
- What difference did this experience make to your belief in your ability? (fixed or growth mindset)
- 4. What role did the peer tutor play in motivating you to complete a writing assignment? (peer support)
- Does the peer tutor's attitude about challenging work motivate you? (peer influence)
- 6. What makes you stop or slows you down as your write? (facing challenge)

- 7. What happens to you when you get stopped in your writing? (facing challenge)
- 8. What happens when you feel like you don't understand what to do during the completion of a writing assignment? (facing challenge)
- 9. How does the tutoring session help you start or continue when you feel stuck during the writing process? (feeling unprepared)
- 10. How did the tutor help you feel like it was the worth the effort to keep writing and finish the assignment? (motivation)
- 11. What helped you keep writing when you faced a challenging assignment? (motivation)
- 12. What did you learn about what motivates you while you are writing? (motivation)
- 13. What did you learn about time management? (non-cognitive skills)
- 14. Did your perspective about effort change? (effort)

#### Appendix H.

#### **Changes to Interview Questions**

The field test of the interview questions with the two students gave me some important insight into the quality and design of the questions for the study. In the first field test, the 20 questions took over 54 minutes of interview material. Question 1-6 were geared toward getting the student to describe their experience in the composition course: content, what is difficult, what the writing process was like. The questions that more specifically addressed growth mindset and the writing experience provided helpful information around attitudes toward writing.

The challenge is creating questions that focus on the RQs:

- RQ0: How do community college students in Southern California describe their experience with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- RQ1: How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of effort learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- RQ2: How do community college students in Southern California describe the role of new strategies learned through peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?
- RQ3: How do community college community college students in Southern California describe the role of encouragement to persist when tutored with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring in supporting completion of a composition course?

The field test helped me see that I need to add more questions about why the student attended tutoring, such as:

- 1. Was tutoring required?
- 2. Was tutoring recommended by fellow students?
- 3. Did you see a tutor due to a challenging assignment?
- 4. When in the semester did you see a tutor for the first time?
- 5. Describe the assignment you worked on.
- 6. Describe the experience with the tutor.
- 7. Was there a time during the semester when you thought about dropping the class?
- 8. Did you see a tutor before or after this time?
- 9. What else did you learn from the tutor?
- 10. Did you try any new habits or techniques after working with the tutor?

I think these questions still work if I add something about the connection to a tutoring experience:

- 7. *After working with a tutor*, To what extent do you think people can improve their writing ability?
- 8. *Did the tutor change* What you think is more important when it comes to writing success: effort or talent?
- 9. Why do you think [effort or talent] is more important?
- 10. *Can working with a tutor help* people *students* become good writers? *What ideas did the tutor give you about* What it takes to become a better writer?

#### 11. How do you think students can become better writers?

- 12. How did *working with a tutor help* you experience growth in your writing?
- 13. How confident were you in your writing ability before taking college composition?
- 14. How did working with a tutor change or support this confidence?
- 15. How satisfied are you with your writing assignments when you turn them in for a grade?
- 16. How much effort did you put into your writing assignments *before working with a tutor*?
- 17. What steps do you take to complete a writing assignment?
- 18. How do you think your mindset affected your writing ability and your writing process?
- 19. Describe your experience with a writing tutor.
- 20. How did the *tutor* motivate you to put more effort into the writing process?
- 21. How did the tutor change the way you thought about your ability?

I think it would also be a good idea to add a question like this one:

What factors were most important to helping you maintain progress towards

completing English 1A:

- \_\_\_\_\_ Feedback from the course instructor
- \_\_\_\_\_ Feedback from friends or family
- \_\_\_\_\_ Feedback from Maya, the embedded tutor
- \_\_\_\_\_ Feedback from tutors in the University Writing Center
- \_\_\_\_\_ Spending more time drafting and/or revising
- \_\_\_\_\_ Writing instruction in other courses

Other:

For the second field test I received permission to use questions from a dissertation study that interviewed students who had worked with a growth mindset tutor (Schubert, 2017). These questions more specifically related to student interaction with a tutor in order to cultivate descriptions from participants. I think I should add more direct questions about the effects of tutoring to these questions as well, but these questions did create more data around working with a growth mindset tutor.

1. Tell me if you agree or disagree with these statements:

Good writers are born, not made.

Hard work, desire, dedication, and enough time are all I need to become a good writer.

You have a certain amount of writing ability, and you can't really do much to change it.

I believe I was born with the ability to write well.

My essays will always have the same quality, no matter how much I try to change them.

No matter how hard I try, I will never be a great writer.

No matter who you are, you can significantly change your writing ability.

- 2. Tell me about your experiences writing this semester. What did you write?
- 3. What was your writing process like?
- 4. What was hard?
- 5. What was easy?

- 6. Have you always felt like a strong writer?
- 7. Have you had a time when you experienced growth in your writing?
- 8. To what extent do you think people can improve their writing ability?
- 9. What do you think is more important when it comes to writing success: effort or talent?
- 10. Why do you think [effort or talent] is more important?
- 11. How do you think people become good writers? What does it take to become a better writer?
- 12. How does a tutor help you become a better writer?
- 13. Can everyone become better writers? Can everyone achieve the same level of competency?
- 14. Do you think there's a limit to how skilled someone can become at writing?
- 15. What determines that limit?
- 16. *Did you experience a change in* How confident *you feel about* your writing ability *before and after working with a tutor?*
- 17. How satisfied are you with your writing assignments when you turn them in for a grade?
- 18. How much effort do you put into your writing assignments?
- 19. What steps do you take to complete a writing assignment?
- 20. How do you think your mindset affects your writing ability and your writing process?

#### Appendix I.

#### Codebook

This is a required appendix. There are many ways to construct a Codebook in qualitative research, and learners can draw from those approaches by citing the relevant research authorities. The most minimal approach, however, should still produce a table of **all codes** generated from the analysis regardless of their cycle, along with "definitions" for each code. A "definition" entails the interpretive meaning that made a particular code necessary in the mind of the learner and might offer clues on the situational context tied to that meaning. Because the focus is on the codes exclusively, it does not entail the listing of higher categories or themes, or the tracing of codes to those themes (which is really what should be discussed and illustrated in Ch. 4-Data Analysis Procedures and Ch. 4-Results).

Transcripts

## Appendix K.

## Feasibility and Benefits Checklist

# Note: This appendix is for reference only; delete this appendix in the final dissertation manuscript

Gatekeepers: Who are the possible gatekeepers? (i.e., If you are in a school district, have you checked with the principal and the superintendent's office or their designee to see what the process is for research? Or, if you are at a company, talked with the management, etc.? If you are planning on collecting data from a college, what is the process? It is preferred that you obtain Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval from that institution prior to applying for GCU's IRB approval).	Dean Oleg Bespalov, <u>obespalov@vcccd.edu</u> Dean of Institutional Effectiveness Submit GCU IRB forms for signature to Dean Bespalov who recommends study to Executive Committee
Gatekeeper Contact: Who do you need to keep in contact with as you form your research project to ensure that the benefits outweigh the risk and you can conduct your research? How will you initiate and maintain contact with them?	Dean Oleg Bespalov
Outside IRB: If you are planning on recruiting participants or getting data from a college (or other institutions with an IRB), have you talked to their IRB determine the process and what participants/data they will allow you access? Please note, IRB approval typically takes some time.	Yes, I have informal approval.
Study Benefits: What is the benefit of your research? Who do you need to keep in contact with as you form your research project to ensure that the benefits outweigh the risks? <i>Remember that research should have a benefit; what benefit does your research have to others beside</i> <i>yourself</i> ?	The study benefits college students as well as learning support services. I attended the 2021 Summer Institute for Writing Center Professionals given by the International Writing Center Association. I participated in a series of mentoring sessions with leaders in the field of tutoring and learning assistance; the feedback from this group was positive. They encouraged me to continue to work on this research.
<b>Research Activity:</b> Is your research part of <i>normal every day activities</i> ? This is significant because this must be outlined in your site authorization. A preliminary site authorization letter could simply be an email from a school/college/organization that indicates they understand what you want to do and how that benefits the school/college/organization. In some cases this will determine the classification of the	The research is not part of normal everyday activities, and I have been granted a sabbatical release to continue to work on the dissertation project by the institution where I currently hold a faculty coordinator position.

study (this is especially important for educational research studies). ***Please see below for information regarding preliminary site authorization	
<b>Recruitment:</b> Please describe your proposed recruitment strategy. How do you plan to involve your participants in the process? What would your flyer/email say?	The recruitment strategy involves using the contact information of students who have visited the Teaching and Learning Center at a community college in southern California.
<b>Data Collection:</b> What are you asking of participants? Are you asking them personal information (like demographic information such as age, income, relationship status)? Is that personal information necessary? How much time are you asking of participants (for example, if you are asking them to be interviewed, be in a focus group, fill out a questionnaire, fill out a journal/survey, collect artifacts, etc.)? How much time will they have to spend to be in your study? Does each part of your data collection help answer your research question? Participants <u>must be told how long it will take to them to participate in each activity</u> . Are you concerned that the activities will take too long and participants might not finish/drop out? Can you collect your data in a reasonable amount of time considering the stakeholders and possible challenges of gaining access to participants?	I am asking participants to reflect on their experience working with peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring on college-level English courses. Not much personal information is needed, except their year in school, first- generation college student (FGCS), and attempts at taking current course. I will be asking for approximately 45-60 minutes if they participate in a semi-structured interview or focus group. These are reasonable time expectations for the participants and data collection.
<b>Child Assent:</b> Studies with children often fall under the regulations for a full board review (full board reviews take significantly longer in IRB). Each child must fill out a child assent AFTER there is parental consent. (It can be very difficult to get parental consent, especially if this is something sent home to parents).	No children will be involved with this study.
Informed Consent: Participants <u>must be told how long it will take to</u> <u>participants to participate in each activity</u> . Are you concerned that the activities will take too long and participants might not finish/drop out?	I am not concerned about the participants taking too long so participants will drop out.
<b>Site Authorization:</b> Do you have a site authorization letter? How difficult will this be to get from the school/ school district/college/organization? Use the GCU template to ensure the correct information is included.	I have verbal confirmation of the site authorization from the dean of Institutional Effectiveness.
Can you collect your data in a reasonable amount of time considering the stakeholders and possible challenges of gaining access to participants?	yes
<b>Organizational Benefits:</b> Have you talked to your principal/supervisor/district/college/boss/	I have talked to my college department chair, Teaching and Learning Center staff, deans, and

organization about your research? If so, have you asked them what you can do to help the district/organization/school?	colleagues. The study is part of an approved sabbatical for fall 2022.
What is the overall benefit of your research to participants?	Participants will contribute to the understanding of learning, motivation, and empowerment connected to peer-modeled growth mindset tutoring.
What are the risks of your research? Please note that there are usually some risks (like revealing participant identity) in all research.	No risks
Now that you have contemplated the above questions, how long do you imagine it will take you prior to access your participants/data? AND, how much are you asking of your participants?	I have access to email addresses to invite participants to the study.
Based on the information that you have learned, is your study feasible? Why or why not? If not, how can you modify your ideas to make your study manageable?	I think the study is feasible because the leaders in my organization and the campus community are supportive of it.

### ✓ Formal Site Authorization Requirements:

- Written on organizational letterhead
- Dated within the last 12 months
- Signed by an authorized representative of the site
- Clearly indicate activities for which researcher has obtained authorization This is very important. The authorization should clearly indicate EXACTLY what authorization is being granted. For example: recruiting by email during work hours, interviewing primary teachers during their planning hours, distributing an electronic survey to staff members, granting access to email, etc.
- This information must align with recruitment, informed consent, and the IRB application

### ✓ Instrument Authorization:

- Should be from an author or administrator of the organization
- A written letter, e-mail, or a screenshot of the email correspondence is sufficient
- Instrument authorization should contain the following items:
  - The specific name of the instrument to be used
  - For what purpose the instrument will be used

- If possible, statement that the person granting authorization *owns the copyright* (sometimes that is not the author of the instrument, it could be the journal in which the instrument was first published)
- Authorization is granted to use the instrument
- Authorization is granted to modify the instrument from the author and the CDS associate dean (if applicable, typically this is not advised, as altering surveys can negate the validity)
- Evidence you are qualified to administer, score, and interpret the data obtained from the instrument.
- ✓ Please see the DC network (<u>https://dc.gcu.edu/irb</u>) for help with the difference between anonymity and confidentiality, informed consent, site authorization, data use agreements and many other helpful videos and job-aids.
- ✓ Something to consider: If you are doing a quantitative study you can consider using a reputable research company, such as Qualtric, SurveyMonkey, Mturk, Prolific, to recruit study participants and collect data on your behalf; this is a VERY quick way to collect your data. Each company has their own requirements and capabilities. Please research to see how they can help you; it will depend on the eligibility criteria you have for your study and if they have access to that participant pool. Please note there are associated costs when using a research company for participant recruitment/data collection.

#### Appendix L.

#### **Strategies to Establish Trustworthiness**

## Note: This appendix is for reference only; delete this appendix in the final dissertation manuscript

	Strategies to Esta	blish Trustworthiness		
Strataging	Va	lidity	Reliability	
Strategies	Credibility	Transferability	Dependability	Confirmability
Audit trail			GT	
Coding is clear and well defined				
Constant comparison			GT	
Establishing referential adequacy				
Evidence				
Fundamental knowledge of naturalistic inquiry				
Inter-coder reliability				
Long term engagement				
Member checking				
Methodological coherence				
Methodological procedures evident, replicable				
Narrative truth	Ν			
Negative cases and rival explanations			PH, N	
Peer debriefing				
Researcher reflexivity	PH			
Sampling sufficiency				
Theoretical sampling		GT		
Thick description				
Thinking theoretically				
Trained researcher				
Triangulation				

Note: Shaded areas are appropriate for all designs. When specifically identified (GT=grounded theory, PH=phenomenology, N=Narrative), the strategy is particularly important for that design.

Used with Permission:

Chess, P.S. (2017). Chapter 3, Validity and reliability in qualitative research. In Grand Canyon University (Ed). (2017). *GCU doctoral research: Advanced qualitative research methods*. http://lc.gcumedia.com/res855/gcu-doctoral-research-advanced-qualitative-research-methods/v1.1/

### Appendix M.

## **Developing Qualitative Interview Questions Systematically**

## Note: This appendix is for reference only; delete this appendix in the final dissertation manuscript

Luis E. Zayas, PhD

#### Associate Professor & Peer Reviewer College of Doctoral Studies Grand Canyon University Used with Permission

### **Qualitative Interviewing**

- What is a qualitative interview?
  - A conversation with a purpose data gathering
  - Open-ended format using probes
  - Ideally with the least interviewer interjection as possible
  - Interviewer is an extension of the instrument
  - Requires many technical skills to elicit quality data
  - Face-to-face vs telephone vs survey interviews
  - Individual, in-depth vs. group interviews (small focus groups vs. large town hall meetings)

### **Dramaturgy and Interviewing**

- Symbolic interactionism
  - People perceive and interact in reality through the use of symbols
  - The meaning of these symbols comes about as a result of a process of social interaction
  - Interviewing as social performance
  - Drama a mode of symbolic action in which actors perform symbolically for an audience.
  - Involves social actors and audience
- Active interviewing meaning-making
- Interviewer's role actor, director, choreographer
- Interviewee's role leading actor in life drama

### **Types of Qualitative Interviews**

- Major difference is degree of rigidity with regards to presentational structure
  - Standardized (structured)
  - Semi-standardized (semi-structured)
  - Unstandardized (unstructured)

### **Standardized Interviews**

- Similar in format to survey, but open-ended
- Use when you have a pretty good idea about the things you want to uncover
- Assumes the meaning of each Q is the same for every subject (positivist / objectivist framework)
- Operate from perspective that one's thoughts are intricately related to one's actions

Examples:

- Tell me what you eat for breakfast? (laundry list)? \_\_\_\_\_
- How many times a week do you eat fruits?
- What kinds of physical activities do you engage in?
- Major limitations: short responses; lack of probing; manifest (literal) meaning, lack of context

### Semi-Standardized Interviews

- Use when you have a general idea of what you want to elicit but do not want to restrict how it is presented
- Predetermined questions, special topics
- More flexibility in wording of questions and probing
- Assumes that not all subjects will necessarily find equal meaning in like-worded questions (phenomenological / relativistic framework)
- Reflects awareness that individuals understand the world in varying ways See template and example

### **Unstandardized Interviews**

- Use when you don't know in advance what questions to ask (e.g. participant observation)
- Completely unstructured, no set order to Qs.
- Total flexibility in wording of questions and probing
- Same epistemological assumptions as semi-standardized (phenomenological / relativistic)

- Reflects awareness that individuals understand the world in varying ways
- Questions and probes appropriate to each given situation & to the purpose of the study

## Instrument Development (Brainstorming)

- Determine the nature of the investigation and research objectives (how structured?)
- Develop an outline listing broad categories relevant to the study that are based on the literature or theory.
- Develop set of questions relevant to each of the categories in the outline
  - Exercise: develop semi-structured schedule
  - Topic: learning to cope with asthma

## **Template for Instrument Development**

• Main Study Question

Topic I: Q.1: Q.2: Q.3: Topic II: Q.4: Q.5: Q.6: Topic III: Q.7: Q.8: Q.9:

What else that we've not discussed can you tell me...?

## Example of Questions Within a Template

• <u>RQ</u>: How do adults w/ asthma living in communities w/ high asthma prevalence can learn to cope w/ the illness?

### Theme I: **Perceptions of asthma**.

- Q.1: What do you think asthma is?
- Q.2: What do you think gives people asthma?
- Q.3: What things worry you more about asthma?

## Theme II: Coping with asthma.

- Q.4: How can people take care of their asthma?
- Q.5: How does your doctor help you with your asthma?
- Q.6: What lifestyle changes can help people with asthma?

## Theme III: Learning about asthma.

- Q.7: How do you get information about asthma?
- Q.8: How do you learn to take care of your asthma?
- Q.9: How else could people get information about asthma?
- Q.10. What could be done to improve asthma education in your community?

*Q.11. What else that we've not discussed thus far can you tell me about...?* 

### **Schedule Development (Sequencing)**

- Question order (sequencing)
  - 1. Start with easy, nonthreatening questions
  - 2. Next, more important questions (not sensitive)
  - 3. Then, more sensitive questions
  - 4. Validating questions (pertaining to important or sensitive questions)
  - 5. Next important topic or conceptual area of Qs.
  - 6. Repeat steps 3 and 4, and so on
- Content level of language, wording
- Styles of Qs essential, extra, throw-away (general Qs to develop rapport), probing
- Number of Qs based also on interview length and depth (e.g., 8-12 Qs for 60 min interview)
- Problems in question formulation
  - 1. Affectively worded questions
    - Try to neutralize the sense of the questions
      - "How come?" vs. "why did you do that wrong"?
  - 2. Double-barrel questions
    - "How many times have you smoked marijuana, or have you only tried cocaine"?
  - 3. Complex questions
    - Keep questions brief and concise
  - 4. Too many questions (long interviews)
    - Keep interview between 60-90 mins.
    - Telephone interviews 20-30 mins.

### Pretesting

- Expert review
- Mock interview
- Assess for:
  - Inclusion of all the necessary questions
  - Do questions elicit the types of response anticipated?
  - Is the language of the research instrument meaningful to the respondents?
  - Are there other problems with the questions? (e.g., multiple issues addressed in single Q.)
  - Does it motivate and engage respondents?

## **Interview Training**

- Learning to build rapport
- Learn the questions, practice
- Develop listening skills
- Probing skills without leading
- Silence, echoing, follow leads

Probes: repeat question, what, when, where, how, give me an example, tell me a story that illustrates that point, please elaborate on that.

- Issues of power
- Self-reflection
- Professionalism

### Focus Groups

- Moderator's guide similar to individual interview schedule, but must consider group dynamic
- Collective brainstorming, synergistic group effect
- Greater interviewing skill level required in order to moderate effectively
- Guide should be shorter (6-8 Qs) in order to engage as many participants as much as possible.
- Qs should NOT be same as individual interview Qs in studies using multiple sources of data collection
- FG Qs should explore a specific aspect of research problem or of findings from individual interviews.

### References

Padgett, Deborah K. (2008). Qualitative methods in social work research. Sage

#### Publications.

Zayas L.E., McLean D. Asthma patient education opportunities in predominantly minority urban communities. *Health Education Research*, 2007;22(6):757-769.

#### Appendix N.

## Sample Frames, Interview Duration, Transcript Expectations

## Note: This appendix is for reference only; delete this appendix in the final dissertation manuscript

Qualitative Research Design	Reasonable Sample Frame	Minimum Projected Sample Size	Minimum Achieved Sample Size
Case Study	60+ individuals	20 individuals	10 individuals
Qualitative Descriptive	60+ individuals	20 individuals	10 individuals
Phenomenology	35+ individuals	12 individuals	8 individuals
Narrative Study	35+ individuals	12 individuals	8 individuals
Grounded Theory	60+ individuals	20 individuals (*iterative sampling)	10 individuals

Qualitative Research Design	Minimum Interview Length Per Person	Corresponding * Minimum Transcript Length Per Person	Corresponding * Minimum Transcript Range Per Person
Case Study	45+ minutes	8+ pages single-space typed	8-12 pages single-space typed
Qualitative Descriptive	45+ minutes	8+ pages single-space typed	8-12 pages single-space typed
Phenomenology	60+ minutes	15+ pages single-space typed	15-20 pages single-space typed per person
Narrative Study	60+ minutes	15+ pages single-space typed	15-20 pages single-space typed
Grounded Theory	45+ minutes	8+ pages single-space typed	8-12 pages single-space typed

\* "Corresponding" projections above are based on the minimum interview length shown for each core design. Learners can pursue longer interviews, which would increase the corresponding range of transcript pages.

## Appendix O.

## **Minimum Progression Milestones**

# Note: This appendix is for reference only; delete this appendix in the final dissertation manuscript

Dissertation Course	Course Length (weeks)	Minimum Progression Requirement	Week of Pass/Fail Assignment Due
955	8	Prospectus "Acceptance" by chair and methodologist	6
960	8	Draft Chapter 2 or 3 "Acceptance" by chair and Submission to content expert or methodologist	6
965	8	Draft Chapter 3 or 2 "Acceptance" by chair and Submission to methodologist or content expert	6
966E	12	Draft Chapter 1 "Acceptance" by chair and submission to methodologist and content expert	10
967E	12	Full Finalized Proposal Submitted to Committee Members *learner may progress forward if this is not achieved, but will be required to meet the minimum requirement in the next course	11 (not pass/fail*)
968E	12	Successful submission and admittance to Level 2 Peer Review	10
969E	12	Level 2 Peer Review Approval (D-35)	10
970E	12	IRB Approval (D-50)	10
971E	12	Draft Chapter 4 "Acceptance" by chair and submission to methodologist	10
972E	12	Full dissertation "Acceptance" by chair and submission to methodologist and content expert	10
973E	12	Successful submission and admittance to Level 5 Peer Review	10
974E	12	D-65 and successful submission and admittance to F&F	11

Learners should work on their dissertation a **minimum of 20 hours per week**. Less time spent may hinder successful completion of minimum progression requirements.

#### **Appendix P**

#### **Additional Appendices**

## Note: This appendix is for reference only; delete this appendix in the final dissertation manuscript if no additional appendices are needed

Additional appendices may include descriptive data, statistical results, raw data (as appropriate), or other critical information pertinent to the dissertation. For the proposal, consider including all recruitment scripts (flyers, email text) and other documents planned for use in the study. Consult with the chair on additional appendices appropriate for the dissertation.

Example:

#### **Copy of the Invitation to Participate (Study Advertisement)**

Learners should provide a template of the recruitment materials that will advertise the study to candidates from the target population. For example, this might entail a preview of the email outreach or other forms of communication, such as a traditional letter, a posted flier, a web-forum post, or a full web-page advertisement. Recruitment materials are important in qualitative research because they advertise the inclusion criteria for the study and help enforce the sampling strategy.

**Important Note:** for learners who plan to use a web-forum or webpage to advertise their study, please be aware that you cannot publish a live post or webpage pertaining to your study until GCU-IRB has completed its review and assigned IRB approval. You can only preview its design in this Appendix as part of the proposal.